

The Development of the Intercultural Communicative Competence through Sitcoms in an EFL Context

NOM AUTOR: MARTA CAÑELLAS BIBILONI

Memòria del Treball de Fi de Màster

Màster Universitari de Formació del Professorat (Especialitat/Itinerari d'Anglès i Alemany) de la UNIVERSITAT DE LES ILLES BALEARS

Curs Acadèmic 2018/2019

Data 06/2019

Nom Tutor del Treball: Karen Lesley Jacob Abad	
Nom Cotutor (si escau)	

ABSTRACT

One of the main purposes of language learning is to communicative effectively. With the learning of the English language this aim is even more important since it is the language used to communicate with people from all over the world. These past few decades, this necessity has been reflected in the "English as a Foreign Language" classroom. This new approach has resulted in the integration of cultural knowledge and awareness in EFL. Nevertheless, acquiring factual knowledge of a cultural group is not enough. In order to have a successful communicative act it is imperative to develop the intercultural communicative competence. This competence refers to the ability to act adequately in a communicative situation with people from other cultures. A speaker needs to comprehend that communication is influenced by one's cultural values and beliefs. This cultural complexity can result in an unsuccessful communication act if the interlocutor does not have the appropriate awareness and knowledge. Different approaches have been explored to develop interculturality in the EFL classroom, such as the use of authentic materials. One of the most popular and accessible authentic material is audio-visual media. Authentic videos are an excellent window to the target culture and language since they were not created with pedagogical purposes. This paper focuses on the use of sitcoms to foster the intercultural communicative competence in the EFL classroom. It puts forward a teaching proposal in which these materials aid the students in their acquisition of the competence. This proposal is divided in four sessions and a final task. In each session various sitcoms will be viewed in the classroom in order to foster interculturality.

Keywords: Intercultural Communicative competence, English as a foreign language, culture in the classroom, authentic materials, sitcoms

Table of Contents

1.	Introduc	ction	1
	1.1.	Justification	2
	1.2.	Structure	3
	1.3.	Main Objectives of the Study	4
2.	Literatu	re Review	5
	2.1.	Defining Culture	5
	2.2.	Culture and Language Teaching	5
	2.3.	The Intercultural Communicative Competence (ICC)	9
		2.3.1. The ICC in the Educational Legal Framework	11
		2.3.2. The ICC in Language Teaching	12
		2.3.3. Approaches to Introduce the ICC in the Classroom	15
	2.4.	The Use of Authentic Audio-visual Input in the	Language
	C	Classroom	17
	2.5.	The Use of Authentic Video for Intercultural Teaching	21
	2.6.	Sitcoms and Intercultural Teaching	23
3.	Teachir	ng Proposal	26
	3.1.	Session 1: Becoming Interculturally Aware	27
		3.1.1. Objectives	27
		3.1.2. Previewing Activities	28
		3.1.3. Viewing Activities	29
		3.1.4. Post-viewing Activities	30
		3.1.5. Expected Results	31
	3.2.	Session 2: Race and Ethnicity. Erasing Cultural Stereo	otypes and
	F	Prejudices	31
		3.2.1. Objectives	31
		3.2.2. Previewing Activities	33
		3.2.3. Viewing Activities	34
		3.2.4. Post-viewing Activities	36
		3.2.5. Expected Results	37
	3.3.	Session 3: Understanding the Other. Beyond Race and	d Ethnicity
			37

		3.3.1. Objectives	37
		3.3.2. Previewing Activities	38
		3.3.3. Viewing Activities	39
		3.3.4. Post-viewing Activities	40
		3.3.5. Expected Results	41
	3.4.	Session 4: Joke's on Them. Understanding Comedy	41
		3.4.1. Objectives	41
		3.4.2. Previewing Activities	42
		3.4.3. Viewing Activities	43
		3.4.4. Post-viewing Activities	43
		3.4.5. Expected Results	44
	3.5.	Final Task: Creating Your Own Sitcom	44
		3.5.1. Objectives	44
		3.5.2. Task Description	45
		3.5.3. Assessment	47
4.	Conclus	ion	49
5.	Referen	ces	51
6.	Appendix	es	59
	6.1.	6.1. Appendix A. Worksheet with Episodes' Context	
	6.2.	Appendix B. Flaschards for Roleplay	60
	6.3.	Appendix C. Worksheet Instructions Writing	61
	6.4.	Appendix D. Rubric of the Final Task	62
	6.5.	Appendix E. Rubric for Students to Evaluate Classmates	64

1. Introduction

Nowadays, it is established that the English language is the lingua franca of the world (Turkan and Çelik 2007, 18). Therefore, learning this language is essential to communicate with people all over the world, both with English native speakers and non-native speakers. This situation is reflected in the "English as a Foreign Language" classroom where in the past few decades one of the main aims has been to develop communicative conference. Nevertheless, it is not an easy objective. In order to communicate effectively, learning a language with all its linguistic rules is not sufficient. Many scholars have stated that cultural knowledge and awareness of the target language is essential to achieve a satisfactory level of CC (Rivers, 1981; Fenner, 2000; Nguyen, 2017). Cultural competence, then, is essential in the EFL classroom. However, it is argued that cultural knowledge, as simple cultural information such as traditions and art, is not enough for the learner. To reach this goal, it is crucial that the intercultural communicative competence is enhanced in the language classroom.

The intercultural communicative competence is a complex term to define, and even more complex to introduce in the language classroom. Nevertheless, it is of great importance to foster communicative skills. This competence refers to the ability to act adequately in a communicative situation with people from other cultures (Meyer 1991, 137). In order to master this competence, the student must understand the cultural complexity behind every interaction and how every interlocutor will be influenced by its own cultural norms. Once an interlocutor comprehends that communication is influenced by one's culture, they will be able to adapt their language and manners to have a successful communication act (Choudhury 2013, 20). An interculturally competent speaker will be able to effectively communicate with people from all over the world while critically reflecting on their own culture and others. The importance of the intercultural dimension in the language classroom is reflected in the Common European Framework of Reference for Languages where interculturality is considered to be one of the competences essential for communication (Council of Europe 2001, 101).

While there are different approaches towards developing the intercultural competence in the EFL classroom, in this dissertation I will focus on the use of authentic audio-visual media. The educational world has witnessed a technological revolution in the last years, making the introduction of authentic audio-visual media in the classroom easily accessible. These resources include films, news programmes, cartoons, sitcoms, documentaries, and so on. Some authors have suggested that the use of these resources is motivating for students because they provide real exposure to the real world and language (Richards, 2006; Gilmore, 2007; Beresova, 2015). While they help students enhance skills like listening or speaking, these materials are also of significant relevance for the development of the intercultural competence. Video-based instruction gives students direct access to other cultures that are not their own (Fenner, 2000). Sitcoms, in particular, are a great window to the target society since the comedy and the language are deeply influenced by the cultural norms and values of the language being studied (Sherman 2003).

1.1. Justification

As I was able to witness during my training period of this master's degree, teachers ignore this competence. In the textbooks there is a section each unit devoted to cultural knowledge. However, teachers tend to overlook it in order to prioritize the learning of grammar structures and vocabulary. Even if the teachers develop this section of the book in the classroom, culture is not that significant. There is a reading or listening activity related to an English-speaking country to develop these skills or to introduce new vocabulary of the unit. No activities are devoted to the acquirement of cultural knowledge to enhance intercultural skills. Moreover, even though there is a clear lack of this competence in the textbook, teachers do not try to incorporate it in the classroom with their own resources and activities.

Furthermore, videos are used solely to entertain students with no didactic purpose. When teachers have not prepared a lesson plan or have finished a unit, they put a movie on to distract students. If there are no tasks related to the video, students only enhance their listening skill. Even though they are a valuable

cultural source, I observed that they are not viewed with that purpose. This tendency is supported by the lack of research done on the use of audio-visual media for intercultural learning. If teachers are not aware of the cultural advantages of a video such as intercultural training, they will not make the most of it. The few scholars who have adventured into this field, have focused on films (Roell 2010; Chao 2013; Pandey and Ardichvili 2015; Yue 2019). Therefore, there is no research on how sitcoms can be introduced in the classroom to foster the Intercultural Communicative Competence.

1.2. Structure

This dissertation will be divided into two main parts. First, there will be a theoretical background. This section will focus on culture in the classroom and the intercultural competence. Both culture and this competence will be defined. Furthermore, it will be reviewed how this competence has been treated in the EFL classroom in the last decades. I will also analyse various scholars' works on how the introduction of authentic language input materials —more specifically audio-visual media— can enhance the intercultural competence. Namely, I will explore the use of authentic audio-visual media to integrate culture and the intercultural competence in the language classroom. I will also briefly examine the small amount of research that has been carried out on the use of sitcoms in EFL because it will be the genre used in the design of the didactic proposal.

In the second part of this dissertation I will create a didactic proposal in which sitcoms will be used to develop the intercultural communicative competence. This proposal will be designed for students of fourth of ESO. This level was chosen after having closely witnessed the students' knowledge during my training period in *CC Sagrat Cor*. Students were barely aware of the importance of culture, even less of the intercultural competence. Therefore, the proposed activities will be an introduction to interculturality. I will divide the activities in four sessions. Each session will deal with a factor that interferes with intercultural communication that will have been discussed in the literature review. These sessions will focus on intercultural awareness, stereotypes, and the cultural value of language. By the end of these sessions, there will be a final task.

In this task students will prove their acquisition of this competence, and the teacher will assess their progress.

1.3. Main Objectives of the Study

There are two main aims to this dissertation, according to the structure. Firstly, one of the aims will be to reflect the importance of the ICC in language learning in the literature review. I will analyse the importance of this competence in the language classroom to enhance students' communication skills. However, since the ICC is a broad concept that can be introduced in a wide variety of ways in the classroom, I will focus on a specific approach using authentic materials. This approach is related to the second purpose. In this paper I aim at analysing the cultural value of these materials in language training. More specifically, the advantages of using audio-visual resources. The overall objective of the literature review will be to analyse how the ICC can be developed in the foreign language classroom by means of authentic audio-visual materials.

Secondly, the main aim of the second part of this study is to create a teaching proposal to introduce the intercultural communicative competence in the EFL classroom. By the end of this proposal, students should be interculturally aware. This proposal will focus on the developing of this competence with the viewing of sitcoms. The purpose is to prove how these authentic audio-visual resources can be of value in intercultural training. More specifically, there are various aims to be achieved throughout this proposal. To begin with, it aims at bringing awareness of the importance of intercultural competence in real life interactions with people from various cultural backgrounds. Moreover, another purpose is to be able to identify and erase stereotypes. Prejudices towards other cultures can hinder an intercultural communicative situation. This proposal aims at helping students realise this and be more openminded in order to achieve a successful intercultural interaction. Another purpose is to bring awareness of the cultural value of the language by analysing the jokes of sitcoms. In the end, the main purpose of this proposal is for students to be more confident and prepared when interacting with people from other cultures.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Defining culture

The term "culture" has always been difficult to define in a straightforward way. It is a concept that covers a wide variety of characteristics that define society. Various scholars have concluded that it is impossible to arrive at a simple single definition for "culture". For instance, Claire Kramsch (1996) claims that due to its intricate nature this term will always refer to two different defining features of a community. Therefore, there are two main definitions. To begin with, culture is "the way a social group represents itself and others through its material productions" (2). This first meaning refers to all the products and works that reflect the mechanisms and history of a society such as art, literature, music, film and theatre, amongst others. This factual knowledge is easy to study and interpret and constitutes what it is referred to by some authors as "culture with a capital C" (Hendon, 1980; Chlopek, 2008). Furthermore, there is a second definition to understand the concept of "culture". As Kramsch (1996) explains, culture also makes reference to the values, beliefs and behaviours shared by members of a community (2). This is a more intricate definition since it encompasses a wide range of elements including "attitudes, assumptions, beliefs, perceptions, norms and values, social relationships, customs, celebrations, rituals, politeness conventions, patterns of interaction and discourse organization, the use of time in communication, and the use of physical space and body language" (Chlopek 2008, 11). These patterns of a society are not as easy to analyse as the fine arts and are referred to as "culture with a small c." (Hendon, 1980; Chlopek, 2008).

2.2. Culture and Language Teaching

Culture has not always been a significant component in the EFL classroom. It was greatly ignored when the aim of language learning was to foster the linguistic competence (Larzén-Östermark 2008, 527). During that time, the sole purpose of teaching a language was to teach its grammatical structures and lexicon. Culture was not considered relevant and was subordinate to the language (Scarino 2010, 324). Language teachers would only teach "culture with a capital C": the history, the traditions and the fine arts of the target language culture. It

was pure information. However, this situation changed when the communicative approach started gaining ground in the 1970s. The major aim of language learning changed from learning its structures to mastering the ability to communicate with other speakers and convey one's message clearly (Purba 2011, 46). However, the knowledge of information and how to share it is not enough for this purpose. To achieve a successful act of communication "the exchange of information is dependent upon understanding how what one says or writes will be perceived and interpreted in another cultural context" (Byram 1997, 3). The speaker needs to be able to comprehend and respect the cultural norms of the other for the interaction to be successful and civil.

In order to achieve this deeper understanding of the other and communicate properly, students "need to be aware, for example, of the culturally appropriate ways to address people, express gratitude, make requests, and agree or disagree with someone" (Choudhury 2013, 20). These trivial and common situations that students will encounter in real life are deeply connected to the cultural norms of a society. As Stern (1997) emphasizes, "we cannot teach a language for long without coming face to face with social context factors which have bearing on language and language learning" (191). Therefore, with this shift, linguists realised that it was essential to incorporate culture in the classroom:

Culture and communication are inseparable because culture not only dictates who talks to whom, about what, and how the communication proceeds, it also helps to determine how people encode messages, the meanings they have for messages, and the conditions and circumstances under which various messages may or may not be sent, noticed, or interpreted. In fact, our entire repertory of communicative behaviours is dependent largely on the culture in which we have been raised. Culture, consequently, is the foundation of communication. (Samovar, Porter, and Jain 1981, 24).

Scholars started to be aware that foreign language students must become culturally competent to communicate accurately. Proper communication cannot exist without cultural knowledge. If students are not exposed to the basics of the target culture, they will end up miscommunicating with native speakers. As Damar (2013) suggests, "many EFL learners do not develop good language skills because of unawareness about other cultures' assumptions, values and beliefs at the discourse level, and they experience pragmatic failures in international

settings" (752). If students are to talk with people from other cultures, they should know the basics of their codes of behaviour (Hendon 1980, 192). Otherwise, the communicative situation will be incomplete.

Furthermore, this change in emphasis of the competences showed that learning simple factual knowledge of the target culture was not enough anymore. Traditionally, teaching culture had focused on teaching traditions and arts that define the target society. Textbooks presented a series of texts about the foreign language "with the aim of learning and accepting facts" (Fenner 2000, 143). Even now, teachers tend to simply use these materials they are provided with "due to factors like shortage of time, lack of cultural knowledge, or lack of training as to which aspects of culture to teach" (Yeganeh and Raeesi 2015, 535). With this approach of teaching culture, the division between cultural knowledge and language is widened since they keep being considered two distinct elements. Students do not realise how culture impacts their language and communication skills. In addition, this teaching methodology helps promoting the stereotyping of other societies. As Rivers (1981) argues, students are not encouraged to develop their critical thinking and discuss the implications of the cultural elements they are being introduced to (315). In fact, they are only asked to accept facts as if these were the only truth. By doing so, teachers are unconsciously creating and perpetuating stereotypes and misconceptions about other cultures (315). Rivers states that this opportunity of learning about another culture should be "a liberating experience in that students are encouraged to develop tolerance of other viewpoints and other forms of behaviour" (318).

Another problem that arises if culture is not approached correctly in the language classroom is what Choudhury (2013) calls "linguistic imperialism" (20). If students are constantly exposed to the target cultures in EFL they will lose their own culture and identity. It is imperative that teachers take into account the students' home culture when introducing students to other cultures. If not, students who are still trying to find their own identity might embrace these cultures and reject their own or lose confidence in their values. Rivers (1981) also acknowledges this issue. When he clarifies that learning a culture should be "a liberating experience", he also highlights the importance of approaching these

new cultural norms "while understanding better those of their own society or cultural group" (318). Therefore, these authors show that the traditional approach to culture in the foreign language classroom raises various issues instead of improving the communicative competence.

As a result of this situation, scholars have studied more favourable methods of addressing culture in EFL. The traditional approach ignored the importance of culture to enhance the communication skills of the student. Even though learning cultural information is still essential, it is more important that these learners foster their cultural awareness and critical thinking. In order to achieve this goal, both descriptions of culture —culture with capital C and small c— should be integrated in the classroom. Moreover, several authors agree that it is essential that students learn about the target cultures while paying special attention to their own in order to not undermine their own cultural identity (Fenner 2000; Yeganeh and Raeesi 2015; Wolf and Tasker 2018). As Nguyen (2017) states, with this approach students can "develop their ability to reflect, self-reflect, argue and construct their own critical views of different cultural issues and their cultural identity, that help building their tolerance and harmony with themselves, with other people and cultures" (150). By fostering their critical views and awareness, students would be able to further understand other cultural norms and their own.

More importantly, this method to introduce culture in language teaching would be advantageous to develop the communicative competence with people from all over the world. As Scarino (2010) observes it would help the learner to realise that culture shapes the contextual framework in which people communicate (324). Everyone is subconsciously influenced by their own culture when they are communicating with others. Becoming aware of this fact, aids the students at developing their intercultural capability. The intercultural communicative competence is considered to be one of the basic elements necessary to accomplish a satisfying communicative function of the language, along with "grammatical competence, sociolinguistic, discourse, and strategic competence" (Mahbouba 2008, 33). The introduction of culture in the EFL classroom to

improve students' communication skills should aim at fostering the Intercultural Communicative Competence (ICC).

2.3. The Intercultural Communicative Competence (ICC)

The Intercultural Communicative Competence is considered to be the 'fifth skill' of a language (Mao 2009, 145). Just like the term "culture", this competence is a complex concept that has been defined and analysed by various scholars. Meyer (1991) defines this competence as "the ability of a person to behave adequately and in a flexible manner when confronted with actions, attitudes and expectations of foreign languages" (137). In order to master this adequacy, Meyer explains that it is imperative that the speaker does not reject their self-identity of their own culture (137). The importance of the knowledge of one's own culture is supported by other authors like Michael Byram (1997) who states that "the mutual perceptions of the social identities of the interlocutors is a determining factor in the interaction" (32). It is from this self-understanding that the speaker should be able to understand and respect other cultures. Furthermore, this competence will allow the speaker to handle any miscommunication problems that may arise in communicative situations with speakers from other cultures in a foreign language.

One of the most important authors in this field of study is Michael Byram. In one of his works, he creates a model of intercultural communication where he provides the different qualities and factors that a speaker should have in order to be considered an 'Intercultural Speaker'. According to him, there are four factors to take into consideration in intercultural communication: skills, attitudes, education, and knowledge (1997, 34):

- To begin with, there is the education of the intercultural speaker. This factor refers to the political education that a speaker receives and that enhances their critical cultural awareness (34). This factor is of vital importance since it will be present in all the other factors.
- Secondly, there are the attitudes of the speaker. With this factor, Byram is referring to the behaviour of the interlocutor "towards people who are perceived as different in respect of the cultural meanings, beliefs and behaviours they exhibit" (34). Byram explains that one should not always be

positive and accepting of every single aspect of other cultures, since this attitude could drive the speaker to create prejudices. While it is important that the speaker is open and ready to receive other beliefs and behaviours, it is also imperative that he or she questions these unexplored elements (34). The interlocutor must be able to interpret and judge other cultures without being biased. In order to achieve so, it is important that "there is an awareness about one's own values" (35). Therefore, according to Byram, the perfect attitude of an intercultural speaker is one that is accepting but also capable of critically analysing other cultures.

- The third factor that should be fostered is knowledge. Byram divides it into two different categories. Firstly, there is the knowledge about social groups and their cultures both in one's own country and of the interlocutor's country (35). The first category is primarily acquired through the process of socialisation and formal education. This knowledge of our own culture is "often dominated by the notion of a 'national' culture and identity" (35). However, when an individual acquires this type of knowledge about another country it is usually 'relational'. This knowledge will be presented in comparison to one's own discourse, meaning that there is a high chance that it will be tainted with prejudice and stereotypes (36). The second category is more complicated to achieve. This category refers to the knowledge of the process of interaction. For the intercultural communication to be successful, the speaker has to be aware of their own processes and to know how to act in various circumstances (36).
- Lastly, Byram refers to the skills of the speaker. This factor is closely related to the factors that have been previously mentioned. Intercultural speakers should have two different sets of skills. To begin with, they have to be able to interpret and relate the information and the knowledge that they receive (37). Secondly, they must have the skill of discovery which will allow them to build up specific knowledge in situations that may be new to them (38).

Therefore, if all these factors are present, one will be able to successfully interact in intercultural situations. If a speaker masters this competence, he or she will occupy a "third place" in intercultural communicative situations

(Choudhury 2013, 23). From this "third place" one is able to comprehend that everybody sees the world in a different way (23). The interlocutor will "overcome both linguistic and cultural barriers they may encounter" (Ho 2009, 72). A speaker who is interculturally competent occupies this "third place" and is able to successfully interact with people from all types of cultural groups.

2.3.1. The ICC in the Educational Legal Framework

The significance of the intercultural communicative competence is reflected on the legal framework of education. More specifically, the value of this competence is shown in the *Common European Framework of Reference for Languages* (Council of Europe, 2001). In this document, it is explained that intercultural awareness and the skills that accompany it are essential to communicate (43). Therefore, to become plurilingual, interculturality must be fostered. Furthermore, interculturality is present in the general competences that a learner must acquire to enhance their communication (101). To begin with, it can be found in the competence 'declarative knowledge' or 'savoir' (101). This competence refers to both empirical and academic knowledge, and it is considered crucial for communicative situations to occur (11). Within this competence, one of the factors to take into account is 'intercultural awareness':

Knowledge, awareness and understanding of the relation (similarities and distinctive differences) between the 'world of origin' and the 'world of the target community' produce an intercultural awareness. It is, of course, important to note that intercultural awareness includes an awareness of regional and social diversity in both worlds. It is also enriched by awareness of a wider range of cultures than those carried by the learner's L1 and L2. This wider awareness helps to place both in context. In addition to objective knowledge, intercultural awareness covers an awareness of how each community appears from the perspective of the other, often in the form of national stereotypes. (103)

Therefore, this sub-competence mainly refers to the knowledge from one's own culture and the target culture that the learner must obtain in order to perform successfully in communicative situations.

In the CEFR, interculturality is also present in another general competence: 'skills and know-how' or 'savoir-faire' (104). This competence deals with the aforementioned knowledge and how to put it into practice. The segment refers to

intercultural awareness and is titled 'Intercultural skills and know-how' (104). It is divided into four skills. These skills refer to the learner's abilities to connect the different cultures, to use strategies for communication with speakers from other cultures, to become a cultural intermediary, and to overcome stereotypes.

In the Spanish legal framework, the term 'interculturality' is also present. To begin with, in the *Boletín Oficial del Estado* (Ministerio de Educación, Cultura y Deporte, 2015) the intercultural competence is one of the competences essential in the learning of a foreign language (254). This competence is first mentioned in relation to the learner's need to be respectful and value other people's cultures, beliefs and values (253-254). Furthermore, intercultural communication is one of the contents to develop in the classroom in the four segments of the academic curriculum of EFL (269-276). In the segment, referred to the production of oral and written texts, this competence is also considered in the evaluation criteria (269, 270, 275, 276). The students are expected to be able to introduce this competence in their speech and written words. They have to adjust their words to the context and to overcome any cultural barriers they may encounter (269, 270, 275, 276).

Equally, in the *Butlletí Oficial de les Illes Balears* (CAIB, 2015), interculturality plays a big role in EFL. In the section devoted to L1, interculturality is once again mentioned as a necessity to achieve a satisfactory communication (25151). Moreover, one of the specific objectives of the subject is to develop interculturality (25240). However, unlike the BOE (Ministerio de Educación, Cultura y Deporte, 2015), this document does not consider the intercultural competence as a specific content to be worked on in the classroom, nor a competence that should be evaluated. In conclusion, even though the importance of this competence varies within the different documents, its presence in the educational legal framework demonstrates its significance in EFL.

2.3.2. The ICC in Language Teaching

The fact that English is the lingua franca (Turkan and Çelik 2007, 18) means that speakers will use this language to communicate with people from other cultures. English has become the language of interaction with both English native speakers

and speakers from other countries. For this reason, the ICC "is increasingly being promoted as a way to develop learners' ability to negotiate meanings across languages and cultures and prepare them for living in a multicultural world" (Ho 2009, 63). Several authors (Chlopek 2008; Ho 2009; Scarino 2010) have emphasised the significance of developing the ICC in the English language classroom to successfully communicate in intercultural situations. As Chlopek (2008) suggests, "successful international communication is reason enough to introduce the intercultural approach into EFL classrooms" (12). Once it has been developed, the students will be capable of overcoming any cultural and linguistical barriers they encounter in future communicative situations. For this purpose, however, it is not enough to learn factual cultural knowledge. Choudhury (2013) underlines that this competence "is not so much about knowledge as about skills" (23). He explains that with the introduction of this competence students should be encouraged to not accept a fact without questioning it, to listen to the others and their values, to negotiate, and to avoid stereotyping (23). Students will be able to communicate only when they have internalised these skills.

It is essential to bear in mind that all students are different and have contrasting cultural perspectives. Some may have their own culture more defined than others. Consequently, "it becomes almost impossible to expect students to grow interculturally at the same rate" (Moeller and Nugent 2014, 5). Some learners may have already developed prejudices which will make the understanding of other cultures more arduous. Nevertheless, it is the teacher's responsibility to ensure that all students are making an effort to become aware of other cultures, even if they don't agree with these (Chlopek 2008, 18). Even if some students are slower, they should all be aware of the importance of the Intercultural Communicate Competence for successful communication. It is meaningful to develop this competence in the classroom in order to achieve a successful international communication, even if students do so at different speeds.

As it is postulated in the skills developed by Choudhury (2013, 23), if this competence is developed properly it can help students to not accept the

perpetuated hegemonic discourse and to promote their own self-identity without being shaped by others. Teaching this competence will "permit learners to actively construct their own image of cultural phenomena" (Marczak 2010, 9). Introducing this competence in the classroom aims at helping students to raise awareness against intolerance and prejudice. Intercultural communication can be negatively affected by stereotypes since "the selectivity in our perception and interpretation produced by stereotypes and prejudice induces distortion and defensive behaviours" (Samovar, Porter, and Jain 1981, 126). Negative stereotypes can even drive the student to prevent intercultural contact with interlocutors that are stereotyped (126). It is crucial, then, to encourage students to question the different discourses they are being introduced to and to eradicate all preconceived prejudices in order to communicate properly. Therefore, one of the aims of ICC should be to "sow the seeds of tolerance, acceptance, understanding, and respect." (Chlopek 2008, 12). When this competence is bolstered in the classroom and students start to question what they are told, it can help to eliminate stereotypes and to promote respect towards other cultures. They need to be encouraged to question but also to have positive attitudes towards people from diverse cultures and communities (Byram and Morgan 1994, 7). If this is achieved, the intercultural communication will be more effortless.

Furthermore, when teaching from an intercultural perspective, it is essential that teachers ensure that students do not neglect their own culture. As Marczak (2010) comments, the term 'intercultural' itself illustrates that this competence will deal with various cultures, not only the target culture (3). Intercultural teaching should be introduced in language teaching "without attempting to mimic the native speaker model of cultural behaviour" (6). It is important that in the classroom the teacher does not reject the students' own culture in favour of the target culture. If students are only exposed to the target culture, they may adopt these new values as their own. An intercultural approach, therefore, "involves developing in learners' critical cultural awareness of their own culturally-shaped world view and behaviours as well as the skills and attitudes to understand and successfully interact with people from other cultures" (Ho 2009, 63). Therefore, in the classroom the activities to develop the ICC should not only

be aimed at the target culture. Teachers should design activities that also deal with the home culture of the students.

Different scholars have reiterated that the intercultural communicative competence needs to be approached by means of comparison (Kramsch 1996; Ho 2009; Marczak 2010; Scarino 2010). The intercultural approach should deal with one's own culture and the target culture. In the end, the learner should be able to stand between cultures. As Meyer (1991) remarks, "the learner is able to explain cultural differences between his own and the foreign cultures because he can make use of information he has acquired concerning his and the foreign countries" (142). Including one's culture is not only important for students to not ignore their own values and belief. It is also important for students to be encouraged to self-reflect "on the influence of their own culture on their language use in interaction with people from other cultures" (Ho 2009, 66). If they understand how the language mechanisms are influenced by their own values and behaviours, their intercultural interaction will improve considerably. The interlocutor will be able to comprehend that the words from other speakers are also influenced by their cultural values. This awareness will be the starting point for the student to respect and understand the other.

2.3.3. Approaches to Introduce the ICC in the Classroom

The ICC is such a complex concept that there is not a definite way to approach it in the language classroom. Regardless of its complexity, it should not be ignored. This competence "should be fostered at every stage of the English language learning experience" (Turkan and Çelik 2007, 24). Even though most authors focus on culture in the classroom, various scholars have specifically studied the introduction of this competence and proposed different strategies and materials to foster it. For instance, Moeller and Nugent (2014) offer five different intercultural activities that can be carried out in the foreign language classroom. These activities include a "cultura online blog exchange" (9) and the study of proverbs (11), amongst others. However, I want to highlight one idea that I consider quite valuable. They propose that students document their transformation collectively (10). The idea is that at the beginning of a cultural unit

the students share their preconceived ideas about the topic. At the end, they go back to these ideas and reflect on what they have learnt (11). The authors state that this type of activity is essential "to provide evidence of growth to students so that they can see the benefits of the intercultural process." (10). This strategy is highly suitable to help students realise the importance of what is being developed in class. In this case, the intercultural competence. Furthermore, students will be able to become more self-aware and change possible negative attitudes that promote stereotyping.

Furthermore, several authors have not only put forward intercultural approaches, but they have also implemented these in the language classroom to analyse the results. In a case study carried out by Fernando Gómez in 2018, he worked on this competence by means of international news. In his study, four Colombian university EFL students, with an intermediate English proficiency level, were exposed to various authentic international news with controversial cultural issues (192). They had to read these texts by themselves and come to the scheduled sessions —four in total— with reactions to these pieces of news. (193). As Fernando explains, "through the analysis of different news, they started to understand and discuss cultural ideologies, values, and beliefs and gradually became more reflective intercultural learners" (193). In his findings, he realised that these students started to develop this competence thanks to these documents. They gained "new cultural knowledge about contentious viewpoints and behaviors related to race, segregation, domination, and religion as conceived by other groups different from their own cultural environment" (196). Therefore, with his study, Fernando proved that authentic materials such as international news are valuable for ICC.

In another article written by Marchis, Ciascai, and Saial (2008), they propose various activities with multimedia. By using these materials, the authors claim that students also develop their media literacy (41). While the authors do not explicitly claim that these activities have been designed for the language classroom, they can easily be introduced in language learning. The first activity focuses on the analysis of a picture to formulate the intercultural messages (41). Students will realise that different people perceive different messages, which will help to

develop their understanding. Even though this activity is simple, it is a great introductory approach to this competence for the students. The second and third activities are similar but with different types of media: one with a picture and the other with a short film. The students are shown this media and are asked to reflect on it and to write a short dialogue related to these materials (42-43). With this approach, the students will be able to identify the difficulties of thinking from another cultural perspective and will also understand other's point of views. The authors carry out these activities in a real school classroom in Portugal and in a university in Romania (43-46). They conclude that students have proved to have a good knowledge of intercultural issues and enjoyed working with different media (47). Therefore, there are various ways in which the ICC can be approached in the language classroom. However, for the purpose of this dissertation I will focus on the intercultural approaches with audio-visual media like this last one.

2.4. The Use of Authentic Audio-visual Input in the Language Classroom

In language teaching, textbooks are not the only source of input that can be used. Teachers have a wide variety of materials available that they can take advantage of to improve their student's language proficiency. One of the most popular and successful materials in the classroom is audio-visual input. These materials "are shown as an effective method in teaching English language as a foreign language" (Bajmari and Ismaili 2016, 502). For years, videos have been introduced in the language classroom. Back in the 20th century, these materials proved to be beneficial since they "add a new dimension to the students' experience of other places, capturing sounds, sights, and the nonverbal behaviour of the speakers of the language" (Melvin and Stout 1987, 52). In recent years, the development of technology has made it possible to introduce various audio-visual materials in the language classroom (Bahrani and Shu Sim 2012, 56). Most classrooms are equipped with computers and interactive whiteboards which allow teachers to easily access these materials and work with them in the classroom.

Due to this wide range of audio-visual media that teachers have access to, it is important that they understand the distinction between the types of videos that

can be used. Principally, there are two main types: videos that have been designed with the sole objective of language teaching and authentic videos. When using videos created with pedagogical purposes, the learner is not exposed to the real target language and culture. As Gilmore (2007) explains, by using textbooks as an example, adapted materials are "a poor representation of the real thing" (98). The grammar and vocabulary of these materials are readjusted to accommodate the students' knowledge, needs and level. However, this adaptation can be disadvantageous since it does not prepare students for the real world. Authentic audio-visual materials, on the other hand, are all those videos "published in contexts designed specifically for native-speaker consumption, with no thought given to non-native accessibility" (Beresova 2014, 196). These videos were produced for the entertainment of native speakers. If there is an authentic video input, the students are shown the true language and culture in a setting that has not been modified for them.

The introduction of authentic video materials can be challenging. To begin with, it can be laborious and time-consuming for teachers to find the perfect video for their lesson. As Hart (1992) explains, these materials "are often difficult to use in class — the language is colloquial, dense and rapidly paced, the programs are of unsuitable length for class study, and the subject matter does not always sustain the interest of teenage language learners" (1). Therefore, even though new technologies have made the task of finding videos easier, it is still difficult to find the most suitable one for your students. If the language learner finds the language too difficult or that it adds knowledge above their capacity, this resource might not aid the student's learning at all (Chung and Huang 1998, 561). When students are not capable of deciphering the video they are exposed to, it can "lead them to feel frustrated, confused, and more importantly, demotivated" (Guariento and Morley 2001, 348).

This source that is being introduced to break from the monotony of the textbook and to bring authentic language in the classroom, can be extremely negative for the learner if it is not developed properly. When the student is not able to understand the video, their motivation will decrease. They will consider that the goal of speaking like native speakers and understanding them is way too

demanding. These videos, then, will create a barrier between the learner and the model of language perfection (Hart 1992, 4). Finally, "relying too much on these audio-visual aids and resources during teaching can lead to monotony and boredom" (Mathew and Alidmat 2013, 91). Even though this kind of input may seem innovative and motivating, it is crucial that teachers do not completely depend on it. Students who are constantly exposed to videos, will end up getting bored and demotivated. All in all, the use of authentic video materials can be harmful if they are not worked correctly.

Nevertheless, the advantages of these materials in language teaching outweigh the disadvantages. If these resources are introduced and treated correctly, the students can deeply benefit from them. Firstly, authentic video is a rich source of language (Sherman 2003, 2). Students will be exposed to different accents, English varieties, lexis, grammar, and discourses (2). This variety of authentic language items cannot be taught through a textbook that has been adapted to teach specific grammar points and vocabulary. Moreover, if the videos are contemporary, it can teach them up-to-date linguistic components (2). All these language items offered, will be useful for communicative situations outside the classroom with native speakers. A second advantage is that using authentic materials can be motivating for the student since they are experiencing the language through stimulating materials (Tomalin and Stempleski 1993, 3). When using this alternative approach, we "relieve students from the boredom of the traditional class language drills" (Chung and Huang 1998, 554). Moreover, learners can be motivated since they are learning the 'real' language from an authentic source (Guariento and Morley 2001, 347). To keep this motivation, it is crucial that the teacher chooses the materials and carries out the activities carefully, so students are not demotivated with the difficulty.

Furthermore, authentic video is a *stimulus* in the classroom. This is very important since these resources can lead to a wide range of activities in the language classroom. These "can be used for discussions, for writing assignments, as inputs for projects or the study of other subjects" (Sherman 2003, 3). The teacher can create diverse activities that are suitable for the students' level as not to demotivate them. Moreover, videos can foster all

language skills (Bajmari and Ismaili 2016, 503). It may be believed that out of all the language skills, viewing videos only benefits the hearing skill. However, as Abdel Gawad Mekheimer (2011) explains, "videos further offer a variety of stimuli for viewing comprehension, listening comprehension and reading comprehension" (6). It can stimulate reading if it is played with subtitles. Moreover, these can also foster production skills. The designed tasks that the teacher may propose related to the materials can range from oral activities to written ones. Overall, viewing a video in the language classroom should not be a passive task. It must be developed suitably in order to not demotivate students and to foster all skills.

One of the most important advantages is that students will have direct access to the target language and culture (Melvin and Stout 1987, 52). Videos are a rich source of cultural information since they are created by native speakers for their community. These resources are where "the learner encounters language as culture" (Fenner 2000, 147). In most cases, it is the closest that students will be able to experience the real target culture and language in the classroom. Videos can be a window to the "culture with a small c" (Sherman 2003, 2). As it was previously mentioned in this paper, introducing this part of culture can be difficult. Most textbooks and teachers only focus on cultural knowledge related to "culture with a big C". However, videos are ideal since they "illustrate many aspects of the target culture, including culturally based practices and beliefs and both linguistic and non-linguistic behaviour" (Richards 2001, 253). These materials allow students to acquire knowledge that cannot be adapted into a textbook.

The great availability of videos allows teachers to choose different videos for the many aspects related to culture that they want to cover in class (Richards 2001, 253). They can choose videos that deal with racism, gender, or nationality amongst others. It is crucial, however, that these videos are not used as a time-filler. If we want students to increase their cultural awareness with these resources, we must engage students in activities. Purba (2011), for instance, proposes that students discuss the cultural norms and behaviours and what these may say about the cultural values (53). Due to the authentic video's cultural richness, several scholars have explored its use in the language classroom to

improve cultural knowledge and awareness (Herron et al. 2000; Bueno 2009; Song 2013; Akyüz et al. 2017).

This closer contact with the target culture, will also benefit the student's communicative skills. The students have access to a language with strong cultural influence. Through the activities, students are encouraged to use this "new language authentically themselves, to communicate meaning in meaningful situations rather than for demonstrating knowledge" (Melvin and Stout 1987, 46). In this sense, video can be used as an approach for the development of the Intercultural Communicative Competence. As Marczak (2010) observes, applying these resources to intercultural teaching "permits multi-sensory teaching, provides a closer alternative to real-life experience, and helps demonstrate a variety of opinions" (11). New technologies have made accessible endless videos that can deal with different types of intercultural themes. Teachers should take advantage and design activities that will help to foster this competence. Numerous scholars have explored the use of these materials for the development of the ICC. For instance, as Purba (2011) proposes, students could be encouraged to discuss the behaviours they observe and compare these to their own cultural behaviours (51). After this analysis, students "determine strategies for effective communication in the target language" (52). Therefore, if it is approached correctly, videos can be a rich source for the ICC because students are dealing with the authentic target culture and language.

2.5. The Use of Authentic Video for Intercultural Teaching

Despite the cultural richness of authentic audio-visual aids, not many scholars have explored the success of these materials in the paradigm of interculturality. However, it is not totally unexplored. For instance, Roell (2010) studied the advantages of using films for intercultural training. She explains that films can be excellent sources because they deal with different intercultural themes and even though they "cannot substitute for actual interaction with members of other cultures, they can provide useful preparation for those encounters by fostering understanding and developing sensitivity" (3). These themes include topics related to culture representation (3) and patterns of behaviour (4). Therefore, as

she explains, although it is not as advantageous as actual intercultural communication with other interlocutors, a film is a perfect item to develop this competence. With her article, she proves that an easily available material like a film is a very rich source for the intercultural competence. Film is the most popular authentic audio-visual aid to develop interculturality amongst scholars (Roell 2010; Chao 2013; Pandey and Ardichvili 2015; Yue 2019). Some authors have carried out studies to analyse the success of these materials in a real educational context.

For instance, Pandey and Ardichvili (2015), analysed the benefits of this tool to teach intercultural concepts in universities in the United States and India. They focused their research on the film Outsourced (2006). They considered that it was a useful example of intercultural differences between the countries that participated in this research (40). Even though the method differed between universities, all the participants had to take notes and hold discussions about the movie (40-41). During the collection of data, the researchers analysed which themes had arisen from these activities and found that there were seven themes in common (41). The themes identified were: "awareness of cross-cultural differences, cultural stereotypes, culture shock and cultural adaptation process, high-context and low-context cultures, personal space and time orientation, cultural intelligence and intercultural competence, and effectiveness of the film in teaching cross-cultural concepts" (42). Therefore, with just one movie the researches helped students realise the cultural issues that were depicted. The students were able to identify the different topics, which would be beneficial for their interculturality in the future. Therefore, with their study, it is shown that film can be a useful resource to encourage students to discuss complex intercultural themes.

Another researcher, Yue (2019), also carried out a case study to analyse the effects of film in the language classroom in terms of interculturality. He carried out his research in China, with non-English major undergraduate students. He selected the Disney movie *Mulan* because it portrayed a Chinese folktale and their culture from a foreign perspective (199). This is an interesting approach, since one of the foundations of the ICC is the comparison between one's own

culture and the target one (Byram 1997, 32). With this movie, these students were presented with norms and values of their own culture, but with distorted representations due to the creators of the film being foreign. Therefore, when analysing the movie and these distortions, the students would most likely find it easier since it is familiar to them. The students were asked "to write about the film's plot, their understanding of the film, and compare Disney version of Mulan with its Chinese counterpart" (Yue 2019, 199-200). This comparison is essential in intercultural learning. In the end, Yue agrees that films with diverse cultural elements are a beneficial tool for ICC (202). All in all, with this article he shows that allowing students to compare this tool with their own culture is crucial for the development of ICC.

Nevertheless, even though film is the most popular audio-visual resource, it is not the only one that can be used in the language classroom to improve intercultural skills. Other authors have explored the advantages of using authentic materials such as TV commercials. In his study, Velasco (2017) carried out three experiments. In the first activity, the only one with authentic video, he exposed 23 Japanese students to a Chinese detergent ad that had caused controversy and a video of American audience reacting to it. At the end of the viewing, they had to discuss these videos in small groups (165). The conclusion of this study was that intercultural activities were positively valued by the students in English language classes. These activities helped them "with opening the lines of communication cross-culturally while providing crucial opportunities to reflect on personal thought and opinions on a variety of topics" (168). They thoroughly enjoyed it and understood the impact that these activities had on their communicative skills.

2.6. Sitcoms and Intercultural Teaching

Despite the benefits that arise from using authentic audio-visual materials in the classroom for intercultural teaching, there are various materials that have been barely explored. For example, the TV series. These resources are as easy to access as films and TV advertisements thanks to new technologies and video-on-demand services. Moreover, the teacher has a wide range of programmes to

choose from to make it more suitable for the lesson and his or her students' level. There are different types of TV series that could be useful such as soap operas, sitcoms, crime series, sports programmes... However, for the purpose of this dissertation, I will focus on sitcoms or situation comedies. The *Encyclopaedia Britannica* defines sitcoms as:

Situation comedy, also called sitcom, radio or television comedy series that involves a continuing cast of characters in a succession of episodes. Often the characters are markedly different types thrown together by circumstance and occupying a shared environment such as an apartment building or workplace. Sitcoms are typically half an hour in length; they are either taped in front of a studio audience or employ canned applause, and they are marked by verbal sparring and rapidly resolved conflicts. (Encyclopaedia Britannica 2013).

With this material, students will be motivated both because of the use of video and because of the entertaining nature of sitcoms. Moreover, the short length of the episodes makes the viewing in classroom easier than of a full movie. It also allows teachers to carry out activities and discussions in the same session the viewing. Due to these reasons, sitcoms appear to be a suitable material for the language classroom that teachers have forgotten.

Nevertheless, there are reasons as to why teachers avoid the use of sitcoms in the language classroom. To begin with, the language may be too difficult for students. As Sherman (2003) argues, "comedy plots are often complicated; the language, even if standard, is often fast, plays with words and puns, dance about between registers, using formality and informality to exaggerate situations, and uses idioms, colloquialisms and slang" (38-39). When dealing with an authentic text such as a sitcom, the language tends to be difficult for students since it has not been adapted. As it was previously stated in this dissertation, if the audiovisual resource is too difficult the student may feel demotivated (Guariento and Morley 2001, 348). In a comedy, this situation is enhanced because the language relies heavily on jokes, wordplays and puns. If the students are not able to comprehend this language, they will not make the connections and "when the laughter comes they are cruelly excluded" (Sherman 2003, 39).

In addition to this disadvantage, the comedy in sitcoms is linked to the culture of the community (Leah 2014, 97) which will make its understanding even more

arduous. The language used is culturally rich and the jokes and puns are full of cultural references, which makes the understanding almost impossible if the student does not have knowledge of the target culture. As Sherman (2003) explains, "we laugh because we are in the know when a brief cultural reference taps a pool of knowledge" (38). When a learner has restricted cultural knowledge, he will feel even more excluded from the narrative. For instance, a British sitcom "might portray regional differences throughout the UK, the British class system, family issues, religion, race and ethnicity, gender issues, social issues, politics and numerous others" (Leah 2014, 97). If students are not familiarised with the British culture, all comedic meaning will get lost. Nevertheless, the fact that sitcoms are full of cultural references can be advantageous, especially in intercultural teaching. It is an opportunity for "learners [to] encounter various customs, attitudes, beliefs and ways of life; furthermore, they can compare and contrast the culture of English-speaking countries with the culture of their mother tongue" (98). Therefore, teachers should not be discouraged to use sitcoms. They must be cautious and prepare the students beforehand with suitable tasks. If they achieve to do so, "getting the joke creates a sense of social triumph" (Sherman 2003, 39) that will motivate the learner.

Despite these difficulties, the use of sitcoms in the language classroom is not totally unexplored. For instance, Waedaoh and Sinwongsuwat (2018) carried out a study in which they used the genre of situational comedies to enhance language leaners' conversation abilities by means of CA-instruction (124). The researchers faced some difficulties due to the complexity of the language and cultural norms (127-128). Nevertheless, sitcoms boosted learners' conversation abilities, grammar, appropriacy, and motivation since they could relate the language learnt to the real world (127). They conclude that "sitcoms could provide a rich resource for acquiring spoken language features (127). In a similar study conducted by Martínez and Fernández (2008), they tried to demonstrate how sitcoms such as *Friends* could improve learners' communicative competence by explaining the generation of humour (31). Their results also suggested that the use of these materials motivated students and helped them to understand the strategies used in communication (41).

A different approach would be the one used in Saeedi and Biri's study (2016). They explored the use of sitcoms for grammar instruction, namely the introduction of conditional sentences (18). They concluded that this approach improved the participants' learning of the conditional sentences significantly (30) and that students held favourable attitudes to this approach (33). Therefore, the use of sitcoms can be favourable in the language classroom and should be encouraged. Nevertheless, these studies focus on the communication skill and grammar. Sitcoms are a valuable cultural source (Leah 2014, 97), but the value of this resources has not been fully exploited yet. No research has been carried out about their impact in an intercultural lesson.

3. Teaching Proposal

A teaching proposal has been designed considering all the information aforementioned in this dissertation. The main purpose of this proposal is to foster the Intercultural Communicative Competence in the EFL classroom with the aid of sitcoms. This teaching proposal is aimed at students of Secondary Education, more specifically of 4th of ESO. These activities are considered to be adequate for the language proficiency of students at that level. These have been designed for small groups of 13-15 students since English classes are generally divided into groups of this size. Furthermore, there will be numerous class discussions that would be arduous to carry out with many students. They will be exposed to the cultural nuances that influence language and will explore how culture impacts communicative experiences with the other. This teaching proposal consists of four sessions in which different ICC factors will be introduced and fostered in order to enhance the students' awareness and communicative skills. During these sessions, the various activities and tasks will be divided into: pre-viewing, viewing, and post-viewing activities. These will mainly focus on the enhancement of the ICC, but other skills and competences will also be developed. The competences that will be taken into considered are the key competences defined in the BOE (Ministerio de Educación, Cultura y Deporte 2015, 4). Lastly, a final task will be created in which all the contents developed throughout these sessions will be put into practice and assessed.

In the following section of this paper, I will explain the teaching proposal designed in detail. I will expand on the activities/tasks, the materials chosen and created, and the objectives to be achieved. I will also explain how each session is of significance in the paradigm of interculturality and the expected results. These sessions have been designed with the intention of promoting a different aspect related to interculturality in each one and they are created to last for 55 minutes. However, this is relative to the students and the pace at which they assimilate this new knowledge. It is crucial to let students learn at their own pace, and not rush them since this will be the first time they are dealing with this competence. The fact that the designed sessions are divided in three parts will allow teachers to carry out the activities throughout various sessions, as deemed more favourable for their students. By the end of these four sessions, the students will put into practice what they have learnt with a final task.

Nevertheless, even though these sessions are connected, the idea is not to put them into practice in the classroom one after the other. Ideally, this proposal would be implemented throughout five units. In each unit, in the students' book there is —or there should be— a section devoted to cultural matters. However, they deal with aspects from the culture with a "capital C" from various English-speaking countries. These aspects are considered to be independent from one another, and the students are not encouraged to understand their importance in real-life communication. By replacing these segments of the books by the sessions that will be developed in this dissertation, students will be able to work on culture with a "small c" and understand its importance in an intercultural communicative situation.

3.1. Session 1: Becoming Interculturally Aware

3.1.1. Objectives

The activities designed for the first session are merely introductory. The main objective of this session is for students to understand the importance of interculturality. It is essential that students are aware of what they are learning and the reason behind it. The sole purpose of introducing the ICC in the language classroom is for students to be able to communicate interculturally without the

barriers caused by the other's culture. If they know that this competence is crucial for them to communicate in the real world, they will most likely become more interested because they will discern a tangible goal. Moreover, another aim of the following activities is to develop students' ability to identify and analyse the intercultural message while decoding an audio-visual aid. Students will realise that in most communicative situations with people from various backgrounds, culture plays a big role in the communicative act. It is important that students that are able to at least identify the most basic messages. Once students can achieve this, their communication with people from other countries and cultures will be more prosperous. Moreover, throughout this session, students will foster their listening and speaking skills by means of watching videos and having class discussions. Finally, there is also an essential objective for the teacher. With this session, he or she will have to analyse the cultural values and beliefs of her students. As it was previously mentioned in this paper, students will grow interculturally at different speeds due to their own beliefs and values (Moeller and Nugent 2014, 5). The teacher should take advantage of this session to ponder whether interculturality should be approached one way or another in the classroom, and at which pace.

3.1.2. Previewing Activities

The first activity of this warm-up section has been taken from an article that has already been analysed in this paper by Marchis, Ciascai, and Saial (2008). In their article, they put forward a proposal in which students were shown various pictures of people from different ethnicities interacting and they had to discuss about these (41). I believe that this is an excellent introductory exercise since it will allow the students to see how their classmates think and the teacher to analyse the beliefs and possible prejudices of the students. In this teaching proposal, the idea is to show the students similar pictures with the projector in order to elicit a class discussion. It is important that the teacher considers the diverse cultures that are present in the classroom in order to include as many as possible in the pictures.



Figure 1. Picture with people from diverse cultural backgrounds interacting. Source: (Advancement Sources. A Wiley Brand., 2014)

The picture will first be shown without context. The teacher will just ask the students to describe what they think when they look at it. This moment is crucial for the teacher's objective since it will show the students' cultural values. Once the teacher is satisfied with the answers, she will write down two questions on the blackboard: Do you think culture can influence in a communicative situation? Do you think your own culture influences the way you communicate with people from other cultures?

With these two questions, the teacher will encourage a second discussion in which they will work on their social and civic, and cultural awareness key competences. In this second activity, students are encouraged to enhance their critical thinking skills. They will come up with diverse reasons as to why culture can influence language and communication with people from other cultures. It is crucial that they also reflect on their own culture, since it is one of the foundations of interculturality (Ho 2009, 63). That is why it is important to try to include all the cultures present in the classroom in the pictures.

3.1.3. Viewing Activities

For the viewing activity, the episode "Diversity Day" (Novak and Kaling, 2005) from the sitcom *The Office* (2005-2013) has been chosen. Specifically, due to

lack of time, the students will be analysing a short clip. In this, the characters are doing a team building exercise where they have a piece of paper with the name of a race stuck in their foreheads. They have to go around the room and talk to the others, trying to decipher their own culture (2005, 12:00-18:50). The prejudices of some of the characters towards these cultures bring about grave miscommunication and even disrespectful situations. I have chosen this clip, because it clearly shows how preconceived ideas of a culture can influence our communicative acts.

Before putting the video on, the teacher will give a brief context of the situation. The teacher will also introduce some of the vocabulary that may be difficult for the students. She will write down these words and expressions on the blackboard. Then, when viewing this video, the teacher will stop the video every time an interaction between two people is about to happen. Before watching the actual conversation, the students will be asked to analyse how this conversation could go wrong due to prejudices about the respective cultures. Afterwards, the video will be played. When watching the actual conversation, the students must write down what went wrong.

3.1.4. Post-viewing Activities

After finishing the video, there will be a final discussion in the classroom. The students will have realised the amount of prejudices and stereotypes that can be present in conversations between people from different cultures. To begin with, they will be asked to share the information that they have written down with a partner. They will have to put the problems that they observed during the video in common. Finally, the idea is to share these issues with the rest of the class in order to elicit a final discussion. Once again, they will have two questions that have been written by the teacher on the blackboard: Do you think cultural background is a big factor in communication? How would you solve the problems that have arisen in the video? The key competences that were fostered throughout the previewing activities will also be developed during this final discussion.

3.1.5. Expected Results

This session would be the first contact of the students with the intercultural communicative competence. Ideally, students should have started working on this competence at lower levels of secondary education. Nevertheless, as I explained in section 1.2. of this paper, I have designed this teaching proposal after having witnessed the knowledge of actual 4th of ESO students during my training period. I observed that in the English classroom, culture is a topic that is barely developed. Even though there is a segment in each unit dealing with cultural knowledge, it is usually overlooked due to lack of time. For the same reason, the intercultural competence is not even considered in the classroom. Furthermore, since this competence is not to be found in the book, teachers disregard it and interculturality is entirely unbeknownst to learners of higher levels. Therefore, this could be the first approach to ICC for these students.

By the end of this session, the students are expected to start becoming aware of the importance of culture in intercultural communicative situations. The students will understand that our interactions are deeply influenced by our own values and beliefs. Therefore, when talking with a person from another culture, preconceived notions of their culture will affect the way they act and the language that is used. Students at the end of this session will understand this impact of culture in communication and will start to be able to discern some of the cultural norms and values that can affect language. The knowledge about interculturality will be minimum since it will be the first time they approach it. Nevertheless, students will know of its existence and will start to wonder about it.

3.2. Session 2: Race and Ethnicity. Erasing Cultural Stereotypes and Prejudices

3.2.1. Objectives

After the first session, students will have started to become aware of how cultural awareness and background can affect an intercultural communicative situation. This second session designed is crucial since the activities will foster some of the qualities of an intercultural speaker as defined by Byram (1997) in the students. The main purpose of this session is for students to be more observant and

conscious of stereotypes related to ethnicity and race. Their preconceived notions will affect their behaviour when interacting with people from various cultural groups. That is why students need to be aware of the existence of stereotypes related to race and ethnicity in order to identify them and avoid them. They must understand that these stereotypes are a product of one's own culture and identity. Our own cultural society perpetuates a hegemonic discourse that creates the knowledge about other cultures relational to our own. This objective is closely related to one of the factors of interculturality defined by Byram (1997): the knowledge of the speaker (35). As this author explains, formal education plays an important role in the acquirement of cultural knowledge. A speaker must know about another culture to have a better understanding and improve communication. However, the speaker must not forget that the knowledge acquired is tainted by one's culture (35). Therefore, the first main objective of this session is for students to know more about stereotypes of other cultures and the influence of one's own cultural background, and how it can hinder communication.

Once students are capable of recognising these stereotypes and prejudices, the second purpose of this session is to make the learners question these. The idea is not only to teach the students the existence of these and the impact that they have in an intercultural communicative act, but also to be able to analyse them by themselves. This ability refers to one of the intercultural skills postulated by Byram (1997). He declares that an essential skill of an intercultural speaker is being able to interpret the knowledge that they receive (37). That is why, it is crucial that we do not teach them what is right and wrong when it comes to stereotypes. We should allow them to develop their intercultural attitude to question what they are taught instead of accepting it and creating prejudices in the end. Byram explains that the perfect speaker should not be biased towards other cultures (34). This will only be achieved if we help students to identify and interpret stereotypes, without imposing the teacher's opinion on them.

The third and last objective of this session is to erase stereotypes that may lead to racism. While it is important to influence their cultural notions with our own, as teachers we should educate them on which stereotypes are harmful

towards other cultures. If we help them to erase these stereotypes, they will develop their social and civic competence, and their intercultural communication will be more successful. Stereotypes being erased will mean that the speaker will not negatively judge the other speaker only because of their origins. Nevertheless, once more, the idea is not to force them to think one way or the other, but to guide them towards an attitude where they do not allow preconceived stereotypes to affect their communicative skills negatively. Finally, while we are helping to erase stereotypes, they should also understand that the people they will interact with may not be as open-minded as them. Even if they are conscious of stereotypes and their harmful impact, some interlocutors from other cultures will not. That is why students should be prepared to be stereotyped. If they do, they will be more prepared to react.

Throughout this session students will mainly develop their speaking skill. There will be various oral discussions held in the classroom and the final activity will be a presentation in front of the classroom. Moreover, they will also work on their listening skills since they have to listen to their classmates in order to carry out the discussion. They will also be listening to real language through the viewing of the clips, which they have to carefully listen in order to analyse them. In terms of key competences, the main objective is to foster the social and civic competence. The students will be dealing with stereotypes that have shaped our modern society. They will have to understand how destructive these can be and how it can influence communication. Furthermore, they will have to analyse these harmful stereotypes and try to erase them from their own values in order to achieve a more respectful mindset.

3.2.2. Previewing Activities

The warm-up section of this session is vital since it is when students will understand why stereotypes play such a big role in communication. To begin with, the teacher will ask the students to brainstorm orally some stereotypes that they know about the Spanish culture. This part can vary depending on the diverse cultures that are present in the classroom. If there is at least one student from another cultural group, stereotypes about theirs should be elicited in the

classroom too. All cultures in the classroom should be acknowledged. Once the teacher is satisfied with their answers, she will ask them to think the other way around. They will be asked to name different cultures which the teacher will write down on the blackboard. Once the students have named all the cultures they can think of, they have to get in pairs. They will have three minutes to choose three of the mentioned cultures and write a stereotype about these. Once they are all finished, they will all share their answers and put in common the stereotypes. The teacher will have divided the blackboard in two: one side for the good/neutral stereotypes and the other for the harmful ones. While they are sharing their ideas, the students will have to write down the stereotypes on one side or the other, as they consider correctly. It is important that the teacher, from the very first moment, promotes a healthy and respectful classroom atmosphere because these activities and discussions could get heated.

Once they have finished sharing their ideas, it is the teacher's responsibility to raise awareness about stereotyping. She will have to elicit a discussion, developing their critical thinking, in which students understand that stereotypes are product of their own culture. This session's warm-up focuses mainly on the student's own culture, which will help them realise how their own culture is affected by stereotypes and how it produces them too. Finally, one last question for the discussion will be: are stereotypes harmful? During this final discussion, students are expected to realise how ingrained stereotypes are in our daily lives and how they can hurt other people. Ideally, their conclusion should be that these stereotypes are reflected in a communicative situation with people from different cultures. These can even create a situation in which the communication is not successful due to preconceived prejudices. The teacher, within her capacity, should lead the discussion towards this last idea.

3.2.3. Viewing Activities

Once students understand the importance of stereotypes, during this part of the session they will be asked to identify them. Specifically, they will have to identify racial stereotypes from the American perspective. It is important to emphasize to the students that they are working with audio-visual products that are produced

in the US. Thus, reflecting their culture and stereotypes. Before the viewing of the selected clips, the teacher will write down difficult vocabulary from the clips on the blackboard. Then, she will divide the classroom into four groups. Each group will be given an A2 size piece of card with a picture of the character that is being targeted and their culture. Each group will be assigned one of the characters. When the teacher gives them the piece of card, they have to write around the character stereotypes that have been discussed in class or that they can think of in red.



Figure 2. Images of the characters and their cultures.

Sources: (USA Network, n.d.), (New Girl Wiki, n.d.), (Brooklyn Nine-Nine Wiki, n.d.), (Arrested Development Wiki, n.d.)

After they have written down all their ideas, the teacher will give them a flashcard with a brief context of the sitcoms that will be analysed (Appendix A). Each group will watch a short clip of a sitcom, which has been chosen due to its cultural relevance. However, the worksheets will have information about all the sitcoms for students to understand the others when they put the information in common later. The group analysing Latin American stereotypes, will watch two clips from *Modern Family* (2009—) in which some latino characters engage in a telenovela-like scene in the middle of a hospital (Higginbotham 2012, 10:45-12:15; 15:30-16:35). The group analysing Hindu stereotypes, will watch a clip from *New Girl* (2011-2018), in which three of the main characters —one of them being of Hindu origin— have a conversation about India. One of these characters is confronted about his knowledge about this country, which ends up in a comic

situation full of stereotypes (Axler 2011, 16:00-17:20). The third group will watch a clip from the sitcom *Brooklyn Nine-Nine* (2013—) where one of the characters is being targeted due to his skin colour (Jackson 2017, 4:22-6:00), in order to analyse some stereotypes attributed to African American people. Finally, the fourth group will watch a clip from *Arrested Development* (2003-2019) to analyse British stereotypes from an American viewpoint. (Day and Hurwitz 2005, 07:50-11:10).

During the viewing, the students will have to write down on their pieces of card any other stereotype that they can identify in the clips. They will have to write these new stereotypes in another colour. If one of the stereotypes is repeated from the ones they already wrote, they will highlight it. By the end of the exercise, the students will have a visual representation of racial stereotypes of various cultures from their own country and from the United States.

3.2.4. Post-viewing Activities

Once students have finished analysing their respective clips, the idea is to share their results with the rest of the classroom. Each group will be asked to come up to the front of the classroom with their finished cardboards. Firstly, they will briefly explain the clip that they analysed, to give more context to their classmates. Then, they will show the poster with the picture and all the stereotypes. While they explain the ideas that they analysed, the teacher will give them a green marker. Every time they mention stereotypes or prejudices that are harmful towards a culture, they will be asked to cross it out and replace it with a positive quality. This new trait can be product of the clip that they just watched, or they can come up with it from their own experiences or beliefs. During this part of the exercise, the whole class will be encouraged to participate. The teacher, even though she can help and guide them, should allow them to think critically by themselves and not influence their ideas. However, it is important that she promotes respect towards the classmates and the other cultures. By the end of the presentations, each group will have a poster with crossed out negative stereotypes, replaced by positive qualities. These posters will be hung in the classroom walls for the students to have a positive reminder of their own agency.

They have the capacity of not only identifying stereotypes that can be harmful, but to replace them with kind qualities.

3.2.5. Expected Results

This session is one of the most important ones in this teaching proposal. As it was previously explained in this paper in section 3, these sessions are expected to last 55 minutes. Nevertheless, this session is so complex and crucial that teachers should divide it into as many days as necessary. The teacher will decide whether to extend the activities into various lessons. By the end of these activities, students are expected to have a better understanding of how stereotypes shape our society. And by extension, how these can shape an intercultural communicative act. If someone has harmful prejudices towards a whole culture, their interaction with a person from this culture will be unsuccessful. The students will realise during the warm-up section how their own culture creates stereotypes that affect their perception of other cultures, and how this situation occurs the other way around. People from other cultures will project stereotypes onto them. Furthermore, at the end of this session students will be able to discern stereotypes and realise by themselves how these can be pernicious. Moreover, students are expected to learn how to work in teams and respect each other's opinions. Finally, and most importantly, students will have the ability of erasing these prejudices. Without the bias of the teacher, the students will have the autonomy to not allow these stereotypes to have influence over their interaction with people from other cultures.

3.3. Session 3: Understanding the other. Beyond Race and Ethnicity3.3.1. Objectives

This session has been designed with a similar purpose to the previous one. These activities will deal with stereotypes imposed by the people from a culture. However, these stereotypes will not be related to race and ethnicity. Instead, they will deal with gender and sexuality. The main purpose of this session is for students to understand that every culture has its own values and beliefs not only towards race and ethnicity, but also towards sexuality and gender. Just like with race and cultural origin, these traits that define one's identity will also influence

the way people treat you. The main purpose of this session, then, is for students to realise how other issues related to culture with a small C can also influence their intercultural communication. They need to be aware of how they will stereotype, and be stereotyped, taking into account someone's gender and sexuality.

The objectives of the activities designed are similar to the ones from the previous session. Students will be more conscious of stereotypes, but this time related to gender and sexuality and the big role that culture plays on these prejudices (even their own cultural background). Moreover, another purpose is for students to become more aware of these cultural values to be able to question and even erase them. It is important to achieve these objectives since it will raise awareness within the students. They will understand to what extent stereotypes play a role in our society and in how we communicate. Regarding skills, this session will be more complete. Students will still foster their speaking and listening skill. However, they will also develop their writing skill with the final activity. In terms of key competences, the students are still dealing with stereotypes and prejudices that harm our society. Therefore, they will be mainly working on their social and civic competence.

3.3.2. Previewing Activities

During the warm-up section, students will be asked to do a roleplay. The teacher will give them flashcards (Appendix B) with people of different genders and sexualities in various settings that they will have to enact. With the instructions given in the flashcards, it is expected that the students will create characters that are exaggerated and charged of stereotypes. For instance, one of the settings will be two children, a boy and a girl, arguing about which toys they should play with. Students will most likely portray a boy who wants to play football or with trucks, while the girl wants to play with dolls. The idea is that it is the teacher who analyses which stereotypes related to these issues are being portrayed, not the students. She will write them down and later share the results with the students. The second activity of this section will be the discussion. The teacher will tell the students the stereotypes that were represented in the classroom and try to elicit

more. Even though there are numerous genders and sexualities that could be discussed, we will focus on the ones that will be represented in the clips. Ideally, students should be introduced to many more existing sexualities and genders. However, due to lack of time and representation, the teacher will focus on the ones present.

Once all stereotypes have been shared, a discussion will be held in the classroom. The teacher will be the one conducting this activity. Once again, it is imperative that she ensures a respectful atmosphere in the classroom. All students should be respectful, even if they do not agree with some of the ideas being shared. During this discussion, students are expected to realise that even in the 21st century, stereotypes related to the discussed issues are still prevailing. Moreover, the teacher will ask the pertinent questions as to elicit students to talk about how one's culture defines these stereotypes. In order to achieve this last objective, the teacher will use the stereotypes that were portrayed during the roleplay. She will explain that these imitations are a product of the cultural beliefs and values that they have accepted.

3.3.3. Viewing Activities

The students will be divided in three groups, one for each clip that has been chosen. One of the groups will deal with the representation of sexuality. More specifically, they will analyse the stereotypes portrayed related to homosexuality in *Modern Family* (2009—). The clip depicts two pairs of homosexual parents playing with their children in the park (Higginbotham and Poter 2017, 11:40-16:20). This clip was chosen because during this game, various stereotypes related to their sexuality are being reinforced. The second and third group will be analysing stereotypes related to gender. They will deal with stereotypes connected to the two biological sexes. One group will analyse masculinity in a clip from the sitcom *Friends* (1994-2004). In this video, it is shown what one of the male characters considers to be masculine or not through the figure of a male nanny (Kauffman and Crane 2002, 10:20-13:00; 16:10-18:15). He is undermining someone's gender just because he shows traits that have been historically connected to females. Finally, the last group will deal with sexism and misogyny

with a clip from the sitcom *The Big Bang Theory* (2007-2019). These clips were chosen because they show the expectations that some husbands have of their wives to care for them (Molaro et al. 2013, 07:10-08:40; 11:30-13:00; 15:00-16:20). The figure of the housewife is being perpetuated.

Once again, students will be reminded that they are dealing with stereotypes perpetuated in the North American culture. Moreover, the teacher will explain that the sexuality and gender spectrum is wider than the one represented in these clips. However, due to the lack of representation in sitcoms, these are the genders and sexuality more prominent. Each group has to watch the selected video and write down the stereotypes that they can identify. While the students are doing this activity, the teacher will divide the blackboard in three sections: one for each issue that is being analysed. Once students have finished analysing their clips, they will come up to the blackboard and write down the stereotypes they found in the respective column.

3.3.4. Post-viewing Activities

When the students have finished writing the stereotypes on the blackboard, the teacher will ask a group to give their opinion about one of the stereotypes. The group will be analysing stereotypes that belonged to another group's clip. That means that if a group analysed *Modern Family* and homosexuality, they will be asked to opine about a stereotype from another group. The idea is for students to reflect on stereotypes that other groups found to expand their knowledge in this issue. Once this group has given their opinion, the group that wrote that idea will agree with them or counterargue. Ideally, students should realise by themselves that these stereotypes should be eradicated in order to achieve a more equal society. In the end, a debate will be created amongst groups.

Finally, this is the only session in which students will be given homework. They will have to write an opinion essay in which they reflect on stereotypes related to sexuality and gender. They will be given a worksheet (Appendix C) with instructions of the writing. In this worksheet they will have five statements with stereotypes that have been discussed in class and additional ones referring to other sexualities and genders. The essay will last between 130-150 words and

will be divided in two paragraphs. In the first paragraph of the essay they have to give their opinion about the stereotype that the statement chosen is perpetuating. They have to explain its meaning and argue whether they agree or not. In the second paragraph, crucial for the development of the ICC, they have to write about how this stereotype could interfere in communication between someone who supports it and someone who is that gender/sexuality. This final activity would replace the writing section of the unit they are working on.

3.3.5. Expected Results

The expected results of this session are similar to the previous session. However, it is expected that the desired results will be achieved faster since students have previously worked with stereotypes in the classroom. The students are expected to understand how these new ones related to gender and sexuality shape society. Therefore, these can influence our interactions with people from other cultures. Moreover, they will understand how these can shape our view of the other, and how the other will see us. Finally, the activities in the post-viewing section will allow students to be able to question these and slowly erase them.

3.4. Session 4: Joke's on Them. Understanding Comedy

3.4.1. Objectives

Previously this paper (in section 2.9) it was stated that sitcoms have been rejected in the EFL classroom due to its difficult language. Due to their comic nature, their language relies heavily on jokes, idioms, puns, and plays with words (Sherman 2003, 38-39). Furthermore, this language is even more demanding because comedy is linked to the culture of the community (Leah 2014, 97). The purpose of this session is to work with this comedic language in order to facilitate students' understanding of the jokes and puns frequent both in sitcoms and real life. To begin with, the principal aim is for students to understand the close relation between comedy and culture. Students will identify the cultural connotations of some jokes and puns. It is not practical to believe that we can teach students to understand all jokes from other cultures, since they are not the target audience. In order to achieve so, they should have acquired a vast knowledge of that culture. However, we can help them understand that there is a cultural innuendo

behind comedy so that they will not feel completely out of place. In terms of interculturality, the objective is to achieve that students do not shy away from intercultural situations just because of comedy, which is very present in every day casual interactions. This will be the shortest session. While the others can be expanded to last various sessions, the activities in this session are too connected to each other to carry out on their own.

In terms of skills and competences, this session aims at fostering the speaking and listening skills. Like the other sessions, most of the activities will be oral in the classroom and they will be listening to clips. Moreover, with the final task they will also be developing both skills. Another skill that is not usually worked in the language classroom that will be fostered in this session is the creative skill. Students will need to use their imagination in order to carry out the post-viewing activities. In terms of competences, students will develop the linguistic and cultural awareness competence.

3.4.2. Pre-viewing activities

The teacher will start this session in Spanish. She will ask students to share some jokes and puns they know in Spanish. This will create a relaxed atmosphere in the classroom, which will be helpful since they will be working with a difficult topic for the first time. Once the teacher is satisfied, she will ask students to get in groups of four. They will be given a worksheet with various jokes and puns, charged with cultural connotations. In turns, they will tell the jokes to one another within the group. The majority of the students will most likely not laugh at these since they will not understand the language or the message. When all groups have finished, the teacher will elicit a short discussion with a question written in the blackboard: why do not we understand jokes in English? Students first answer will be that the main barrier is the language. Here, the teacher will not help them understand the role of culture in comedy since they will have to find out by themselves later.

3.4.3. Viewing Activities

In order to introduce the importance of culture in this type of language, students will first watch a clip without guidelines. They simply have to watch it and try to understand it. The material chosen for this activity is a clip from the sitcom *How I Met Your Mother* (2005-2014). This episode is ridden with jokes about the feud between Americans and Canadians (Tatham 2013, 2:00-4:00). If someone is not familiar with this conflicted relation between the countries, the joke is most likely missed. When students have watched it once, the clip will be played again with subtitles, so that it is easier to follow. This time they will be asked to write down all the jokes they can identify. The teacher will have a power point presentation with all the jokes ready, so that students can actually see them all in the end.

Once the clip has been watched twice, the teacher will ask them to share what they wrote down. She will proceed to show the presentation with all of the jokes in case they missed some. Here, the teacher starts the second part of the discussion from the previewing activities. She will ask the students whether they still think that language is the most important barrier in understanding jokes. In this discussion students will understand that culture is also a big factor here as it is seen in the clip analysed. After the previous sessions, students should be able to arrive to that conclusion by themselves since they will identify many stereotypes. However, the teacher can still guide them. During this discussion, the teacher will also recall some of the Spanish jokes that were shared at the beginning of the previewing section. She will ask them to think of more Spanish jokes with stronger cultural connotations so that the students understand it better.

3.4.4. Post-viewing Activities

In this final part, students will have to use their imagination to create jokes themselves. In the groups from the beginning of this session, they will have to come up with two jokes in English. One of the jokes must have Spanish cultural connotations. The second joke must have cultural connotations from one of the English-speaking countries. Students should have minimal knowledge of some of these countries from previous years, and even from the previous sessions of this proposal. Once students have come up with these, they will share it with the

rest of the class. This activity has been designed as a contest. The teacher can even decorate the classroom as a comedy club to motivate students to win. The group that makes the other group laugh most, will be the winner. The teacher will decide the award depending on the group and their motivations.

3.4.5. Expected results

By the end of this session, students should be aware of the cultural background that is needed in order to understand most jokes from other cultures. This knowledge will help them in intercultural communicative acts. They will feel more confident in these situations. They will understand that if there is miscommunication with a speaker from another culture that uses a lot of jokes it is not due to their language proficiency. Because of this confidence, students will not avoid intercultural situations or watching sitcoms in English. Most importantly, with this session they are not expected to understand all jokes. It is important that they are aware of this to not feel demotivated. They will not acquire the cultural knowledge necessary to get the references. It would also be impractical to believe that someone is able to understand jokes from all cultures. They will understand that it is very difficult to understand these. However, they will be aware of the cultural value behind them. Therefore, if they wish to expand their cultural knowledge, this session will hopefully motivate them to do so.

3.5. Final task: Creating Your Own Sitcom

3.5.1. Objectives

After the four sessions previously developed, there will be a final task in order to assess their acquisition of the intercultural competence. At this point, students will understand why it is important to deal with this competence in the English classroom. Considering that a real intercultural conversation is unlikely in the classroom, unless the high school has the resources, a simulation will be created in this final task. The main purpose is to put all the knowledge related to interculturality that has been acquired throughout this teaching proposal in practice. They will have to prove that they understand what interculturality is and how stereotypes can damage it. Moreover, they will have to demonstrate that they have understood the importance of culture in comedic situations.

They will also be assessed in terms of language skills and key competences. The skills to be developed more thoroughly with this task are the speaking and the writing ones. The students will have to hand in a piece of writing that will be evaluated. Moreover, they will also have to prepare a video in which they will be fostering the oral skill. Regarding the key competences, they will work mainly on the linguistic competence while developing the previous mentioned skills. Moreover, they will foster their cultural, and social and civic competence. They have to ponder over cultural stereotypes and how it can affect communication with other cultures. Students will also be developing their learning to learn competence. In order to be more accurate in the representation of other cultures and their stereotypes, they will have to do some research on their own. Finally, for the first time in this proposal, students will develop their digital competence. Students will have to work with various ICT tools when filming and editing the final product.

3.5.2. Task description

In this final task, students will have to create their own sitcom scene in groups of four to five people. This scene will have to revolve around a dialogue between people from various cultures. They will have to write a script and film it. This task will be divided in three lessons, to allow students to work cooperatively in the classroom. If they are asked to do it at their homes, they will most likely divide their tasks and do it individually. By obliging them to work in the classroom, the teacher can monitor that all students are working equally. Moreover, they must all perform in the video so that the teacher can grade them in their oral skill. The idea is that students brainstorm the ideas and do research during the first lesson. The second and third lessons will be devoted to the writing of the script and the recording of the video. Students must finish their script in the classroom. By the end of the third lesson, they will hand it in. To complete the task, students are allowed to film at their homes since they may need more time and/or a specific scenery. By the end of this task, the students will send the final video to the teacher. The videos will be played in the classroom.

Even though they will be given the freedom to create it however they want, they will have to follow some guidelines. To begin with, the scene will have to last between four to six minutes. If they do not adjust to this time limit, it will be penalised in their final mark. I believe that it is important to do so in order to give everyone a fair chance. Videos that are shorter are likely to have less mistakes in them. On the other hand, if the video lasts longer they have more chances to make errors even though they worked harder. If they have a limit, all students will be graded equally. Secondly, they can create a scene with whichever cultures they prefer. They will be encouraged to include as many as possible. However, they are required to include their own. By doing so, they will demonstrate that they understand how their own culture can affect them in future intercultural situations. Including one's own culture, will also make the task easier since they will not have to do extensive research on it.

Thirdly, they will be asked to put into practice all the knowledge acquired throughout the previous sessions. They must include stereotypes related to race, sexuality and/or gender. They will have the freedom to choose which ones and how many, as long as they include one of each. I consider that this task is quite complex, so students should not be asked to incorporate a large number of stereotypes. The main goal is that they prove that they are interculturally aware. It is better that they introduce fewer stereotypes, but they do it adequately. Moreover, they will also be instructed to include some jokes. These can be the ones we worked on in the classroom, jokes that they create or existing ones. These must be culturally charged. Once again, they will have the freedom to choose the number of jokes they include. Finally, not all groups will have to create a successful intercultural interaction. Some groups will have to recreate a situation in which culture is a barrier. Even though this competence is introduced in the EFL classroom to aid students in future intercultural interactions, they should also understand to which extent intercultural communication could go wrong. If they are asked to create unsuccessful interactions, they will be able to discern which problems they have to consider. The teacher will randomly allocate the students which situation they need to portray.

3.5.3. Assessment

The final product of the students will be assessed by means of summative assessment. This type of assessment, as defined in *The Glossary of Education Reform*, is "used to evaluate student learning, skill acquisition, and academic achievement at the conclusion of a defined instructional period" (2013). I believe that this is the most adequate approach since the goal of this task is to assess the students' acquisition of the ICC after having developed it throughout several sessions. Moreover, this type of assessment can be useful for teachers to determine students' progress (2013). Depending on the results, she can assess whether this approach has been the most satisfactory for her students.

The tool that will be used for this assessment will be an analytic rubric (Appendix 4). This tool takes into account all the criteria that the teacher wants to evaluate individually (DePaul, n.d.). This type of grid will allow the teacher to assess the students in all the aspects that she considers best. Both the script and the video will be evaluated, as well as the acquisition of the competence. The rubric will be divided in three parts.

To begin with, the script will account for a fifteen percent of the final mark. On the one hand, this mark will reflect their writing proficiency. The teacher will take into consideration the grammatical mistakes, the structure of the sentences and whether the vocabulary is suitable. On the other hand, she will also assess the work done in the classroom. During the three lessons devoted to this task, the students will develop the script. The teacher will check which students are working adequately in the classroom and indicate it in the rubric.

Secondly, the teacher will assess the students' final video. This segment of the rubric will account for a thirty-five percent of the final mark. It has a higher mark than the previous one because it is more complex to produce. Moreover, considering that the ICC is mainly a competence that deals with the speaking skill, it should be reflected in the rubric. To begin with, this section will take into account the timing. As it was explained before, students will be given strict instructions on the length of the video. Students will once again be graded in their English proficiency. In this section, this criterion will count less since they have

already been graded in the script. Nevertheless, I consider that it is important to still consider their English since they will most likely make changes from the original script. Thirdly, they will be assessed on their pronunciation and fluency. Being an oral product, it is essential that the student does not make considerable mistakes in pronunciation that impedes understanding, and that the vocalisation and rhythm is adequate. Finally, students will also be assessed on their digital competence. The teacher will evaluate the final video and its editing.

Thirdly, and most importantly, a fifty percent of the mark will be devoted to the intercultural communicative competence. Here, it will be considered if students have followed the task correctly. They have been given guidelines that they must follow in which it was specified how their intercultural situation should develop. Moreover, it is imperative that they use the stereotypes correctly, whether it is in a successful or an unsuccessful interaction. Students have identified, analysed, and questioned various stereotypes in the EFL classroom. They understand that stereotypes are one of the biggest barriers in intercultural communication. Even though there is not a mandatory number of cultures and stereotypes to be represented, the use of a wide variety will be reflected positively in the mark. Finally, they will be assessed on their use of jokes. The teacher will evaluate whether the jokes and puns used in the scene have a significant cultural value.

Finally, students will also assess their classmates. This evaluation is more informal and will not be reflected in the actual final mark of the task. However, I believe that students will be benefited with this responsibility. To begin with, it demands that they pay attention to their classmate's works and do not get distracted. Moreover, it will help them to further develop the ICC. They will be evaluating contents related to this competence, not the language proficiency. This will allow them to realise whether they are able to identify the issues discussed in the classroom. They will be given a simpler rubric (Appendix 5) to evaluate each group. At the end, using their own results, they can hold a class discussion in order to evaluate what was learnt.

4. Conclusion

This master's dissertation has discussed the importance of intercultural communicative competence in language learning. English is the language used to communicate with people who speak other languages, not only English native speakers. Mastering this competence allows the speaker to interact with the other without any cultural barriers. Therefore, it is essential that this competence be introduced in the English classroom. There is a wide variety of possibilities to approach this competence in the classroom as it was explained previously. In this dissertation, however, I focused on the use of authentic audio-visual materials. These resources are of great cultural value since they offer a non-filtered portrayal of the target culture and language. Nevertheless, as it was previously stated in section 2.5., video-based instruction of this competence has barely been explored in language teaching. The few studies carried out have focused mainly on the use of film (Roell 2010, Chao 2013, Pandey and Ardichvili 2015, Yue 2019). Other genres such as sitcoms have been ignored in this field of study despite their link to culture thanks to their comedy nature (Leah 2014, 97). Due to this lack of research, I put forward a teaching proposal in which interculturality is fostered with the aid of sitcoms.

It is important to note that there was a great limitation when creating this teaching proposal. The timing of the sessions is purely hypothetical. Due to lack of time during my training period, these activities were not carried out in the classroom with real students. Even though they are expected to last 55 minutes, a session may last longer. It is the first time that students will be dealing with interculturality. That is why the activities were divided into three main stages: previewing, viewing, and post-viewing. This will allow the teacher to put into practice the activities at the rate they deem suitable. If the students do not achieve the expected results in the proposed period, teachers will have the freedom to extend the sessions.

In the proposal I created, various intercultural themes and factors discussed in the theoretical framework were developed throughout the sessions. To begin with, the activities of the first session focused on bringing awareness

about the importance of interculturality. This part is essential because this proposal was designed after observing a group of fourth of ESO during my training period. These students were not acquainted with this competence. Therefore, this would be their first contact with interculturality. The second and third sessions are more complex. These sessions are devoted to stereotypes. As it was postulated by Samovar, Porter, and Jain (1981), prejudices induce defensive behaviours and can even drive the speaker to prevent intercultural contact (126). These sessions aim at helping students realise the existence of these barriers and overcome them by developing the intercultural knowledge and skills defined by Byram (1997, 35-37). Stereotypes related to race, ethnicity, gender, and sexuality are covered in the classroom. Students analyse these to understand how these can hinder their intercultural communication acts and try to erase them.

The fourth and final session was created to tackle one of the issues discussed about the use of sitcom in the EFL classroom. Scholars like Sherman (2003) and Leah (2014) explained that sitcoms are difficult for students since the comedy relies on the cultural values and beliefs of the target audience. In this proposal, instead of ignoring these types of TV programmes, this background cultural background was valued. Activities were designed for students to realise the cultural significance of jokes and puns. This comprehension will help them in future intercultural interactions. They will accept that if they do not understand a joke it is not due to their language proficiency, but because of the different cultural background. Students will not feel demotivated in these situations. Throughout these sessions, students developed other key competences and language skills with the various activities. However, in each session there was at least one oral discussion related to the topic that was being developed. This allowed students to express their values and to also understand their classmates' cultural beliefs. Finally, all this knowledge was assessed in a final task. In this task, developed throughout various sessions, students put all the acquired knowledge into practice. To conclude, even though sitcoms present various difficulties, they can be a great genre for intercultural training with the adequate activities.

5. References

- Abdel Gawad Mekheimer, Mohamed Amin. 2011. "The Impact of Using Videos on Whole Language Learning in EFL Context." *Arab World English Journal* 2 (2): 5-39.
- Advancement Courses. A Wiley Brand. 2014. "Reducing the Risk of Dropout in Culturally Diverse Students." Last modified September 9, 2014. https://www.advancementcourses.com/blog/reducing-dropout/
- Akyüz, Aslı, Ayfer Tanış, Eftima Khalil, Özdenur Ardıç, and Enisa Mede. 2017. "Effects of Videos on Students' Knowledge of the Target Language Culture." *Inönü University Journal of the Faculty of Education* 18 (3): 162-174. DOI: 10.17679/inuefd.287518
- Arrested Development Wiki. n.d. "Rita Leeds." Accessed May 14, 2019. https://arresteddevelopment.fandom.com/wiki/Rita_Leeds
- Axler, Rachel. 2011. "Cece Crashes." *New Girl*, season 1, episode 5. Directed by John Hamburg, aired November 8. Los Angeles, CA: 20th Century Fox Television, Television.
- Bahrani, Taher, and Tam Shu Sim. 2012. "Audiovisual News, Cartoons, and Films as Sources of Authentic Language Input and Language Proficiency Enhacement." *TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology* 11 (4): 56-64.
- Bajrami Lumturie, and Merita Ismaili. 2016. "The Role of Video Materials in EFL Classrooms." *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences* 232: 502-506.
- Beresova, Jana. 2015. "Authentic Materials Enhancing Language Acquisition and Cultural Awareness." *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences* 192: 195-204.
- Brooklyn Nine-Nine Wiki. n.d. "Terry Jeffords." Accessed May 14, 2019. https://brooklyn99.fandom.com/wiki/Terry_Jeffords

- Bueno, Kathleen A.. 2009. "Got Film? Is It a Readily Accessible Window to the Target Language and Culture for Your Students?" *Foreign Language Annals* 42 (2): 318-339.
- Byram, Michael. 1997. *Teaching and Assessing Intercultural Communicative Competence*. Great Britain: Multilingual Matters.
- Byram, Michael and Carol Morgan. 1994. *Teaching and Learning Language and Culture*. Great Britain: Multilingual Matters.
- CAIB. 2015. "Decret 34/2015, de 15 de maig, pel qual s'estableix el currículum de l'educació secundària obligatòria a les Illes Balears" Butlletí Oficial de les Illes Balears, 16 of May 2015, number 73, pp. 25016-25302. http://boib.caib.es
- Chao, Tzu-Chia. 2013. "A Diary Study of University EFL Learners' Intercultural Learning Through Foreign Films." *Language, Culture and Curriculum* 26 (3): 257-265.
- Chlopek, Zofia. 2008. "The Intercultural Approach to EFL Teaching and Learning." *English Teaching Forum* 4: 10-27.
- Choudhury, Murshed Haider. 2013. "Teaching Culture in EFL: Implications, Challenges and Strategies." *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science (IOSR-JHSS)* 13 (1): 20-24.
- Chung, J. M., and S.C. Huang. 1998. "The Effects of Three Aural Advance Organizers for Video Viewing in a Foreign Language Classroom." System 26: 553-565.
- Council of Europe. 2001. Common European Framework of Reference for Languages: Learning, Teaching, Assessment. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Damar, Ebru A.. 2013. "Culture: Is It an Avoidable or Adorable Concept in EFL Settings?" *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences* 93: 752-755.

- Day, Richard, and Mitchell Hurwitz. 2005. "For British Eyes Only." *Arrested Development*, season 3, episode 2. Directed by John Fortenberry, aired September 26. Los Angeles, CA: 20th Century Fox Television, Television.
- DePaul. n.d. "Types of Rubrics." Accessed May 22, 2019. https://resources.depaul.edu/teaching-commons/teaching-guides/feedback-grading/rubrics/Pages/types-of-rubrics.aspx
- Encyclopaedia Britannica. 2013. "Situation Comedy. Broadcasting Genre." Last modified August 30, 2013. https://www.britannica.com/art/situation-comedy
- Fenner, Anne-Brit. 2000. "Cultural Awareness." In Approaches to Materials

 Design in European Textbooks: Implementing Principles of Authenticity,

 Learner Autonomy and Cultural Awareness, edited by Anne-Brit Fenner

 and David Newby, 142-153. Strasbourg, France: Council of Europe.
- Fernando Gómez, Luis. 2018. "EFL Learners' Intercultural Competence Development Through International News." *GIST Education and Learning Research Journal* 16: 185-208.
- Gilmore, Alex. 2007. "Authentic Materials and Authenticity in Foreign Language Learning." *Language Teaching* 40: 97-118. DOI: 10.1017/S0261444807004144
- Guariento, William, and John Morley. 2001. "Text and Task Authenticity in the EFL Classroom." *ELT Journal* 55 (4): 347-353.
- Hart, Ian. 1992. "Video, Foreign Languages Teaching and The Documentary Tradition." System 20 (1): 1-13.
- Hendon, Ursula S.. 1980. "Introducing Culture in the High School Foreign Language Class." *Foreign Language Annals* 13 (3): 191-199.
- Herron, Carol, Sébastien Dubreil, Steven P. Cole, and Cathleen Corrie. 2000. "Using Instructional Video to Teach Culture to Beginning Foreign Language Students." *CALICO Journal* 17(3): 395-430.

- Higginbotham, Abraham. 2012. "Baby on Board." *Modern Family*, season 3, episode 24. Directed by Steven Levitan, aired May 23. Los Angeles, CA: 20th Century Fox Television, Television.
- Higginbotham, Abraham, and Jessica Poter. 2017. "Sex, Lies & Kickball." *Modern Family*, season 9, episode 4. Directed by John Riggi, aired October 27.
 Los Angeles, CA: 20th Century Fox Television, Television.
- Ho, Si Thang Kiet. 2009. "Addressing Culture in EFL Classrooms: The Challenge of Shifting from a Traditional to an Intercultural Stance." *Electronic Journal of Foreign Language Teaching* 6 (1): 63-76.
- Jackson, Phil Augusta. 2017. "Moo Moo." Brooklyn Nine-Nine, season 4, episode
 16. Directed by Maggie Carey, aired May 2. Los Angeles, CA: 20th Century
 Fox Television, Television.
- Kauffman, Marta, and David Crane. 2002. "The One with the Male Nanny."Friends, season 9, episode 6. Directed by Kevin S. Bright, aired November 7. Los Angeles, CA: NBC, Television.
- Kramsch, Claire. 1996. "The Cultural Component of Language Teaching." *ZIF* 1 (2): 2-10.
- Larzén-Östermark, Eva. 2008. "The Intercultural Dimension in EFL-Teaching: A Study of Conceptions Among Finland-Swedish Comprehensive School Teachers." Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research 52 (5): 527-547.
- Leah, Claudia. 2014. "Cognitive Perspectives on Learning English Grammar Through Sitcoms." *Diacronia* 2: 95-102.
- Mahbouba, Messerehi. 2008. "The Role of English Culture in Teaching English as a Foreign Language to Second Year Literary Stream Classes at Kais Secondary Schools." Master's thesis, Universite Mohamed Khider.
- Mao, Weiqiang. 2009. "Teaching Culture Within and Beyond Language." *English Language Teaching* 2 (4): 144-148.

- Marchis, Iuliana, Liliana Ciascai, and Joaquin Saial. 2008. "Developing Intercultural Competences Using Activities with Different Media." *Acta Didactica Napocensia* 1 (1): 39-47.
- Marczak, Mariusz. 2010. "New Trends in Teaching Language and Culture." In Coping with Diversity. New Trends in Language and Culture Education, edited by H. Komorowska, and L. Aleksandrowicz-Pedich, 13-28. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo Wyższej Szkoły Psychologii Społecznej.
- Martínez Fernández, Beatriz, and Almudena Fernández Fontecha. 2008. "The Teachability of Pragmatics in SLA: *Friends'* Humour through Grice." *PORTA LINGUARUM* 10: 31-43.
- Mathew, Nalliveettil George, and Ali Odeh Hammoud Alidmat. 2013. "A Study on the Usefulness of Audio-Visual Aids in EFL Classroom: Implications for Effective Instruction." *International Journal of Higher Education* 2 (2): 86-92.
- Melvin, Bernice, and David Stout. 1987. "Motivating Language Learners through Authentic Materials." In *Interactive Language Teaching*, edited by Wilga Rivers, 44-56. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Meyer, Meinert. 1991. "Developing Transcultural Competence: Case Studies of Advanced Foreign Language Learners." In *Mediating Languages and Cucltures: Towards an Intercultural Theory of Foreign Language Education*, edited by Dieter Buttjes and Michael Byram, 136-158. Clevedon, UK: Multilingual Matters.
- Ministerio de Educación, Cultura y Deporte. 2015. "Real Decreto 1105/2014, de 26 de diciembre, por el que se establece el currículo básico de la Educación Secundaria Obligatoria y del Bachillerato." *Boletín Oficial del Estado*, 3 of January 2015. https://www.boe.es/buscar/pdf/2015/BOE-A-2015-37-consolidado.pdf
- Moeller, Aleidine Kramer, and Kristen Nugent. 2014. "Building Intercultural Competence in the Language Classroom." *Faculty Publications:*Department of Teaching, Learning and Teacher Education 161: 1-18.

- Molaro, Steven, Steve Holland, Adam Faberman, Eric Kaplan, Jim Reynolds, and Maria Ferrari. 2013. "The Discovery Dissipation." *The Big Bang Theory*, season 7, episode 10. Directed by Mark Cendrowski, aired April 3. Los Angeles, CA: CBS, Television.
- New Girl Wiki. n.d. "Cece Parekh." Accessed May 14, 2019. https://newgirl.fandom.com/wiki/Cece_Parekh
- Nguyen, Trang T. T.. 2017. "Integrating Culture into Language Teaching and Learning: Learner Outcomes." *The Reading Matrix: An International Online Journal* 17 (1): 145-155.
- Novak, B.J., and Mindy Kaling. 2005. "Diversity Day." The Office, season 1, episode 2. Directed by Ken Kwapis, aired March 29. Los Angeles, CA: NBC, Television.
- Pandey, S., and Alexandre Ardichvili. 2015. "Using Films in Teaching Intercultural Concepts: An Action Research Project at Two Universities in India and the United States." New Horizons in Adult Education & Human Resource Development 27 (4): 36-50.
- Purba, Hemat. 2011. "The Importance of Including Culture in EFL Teaching." Journal of English Teaching 1 (1): 44-56.
- Richards, Jack C.. 2001. *Curriculum Development in Language Teaching*. United States of America: Cambridge University Press.
- Richards, Jack C.. 2006. *Communicative Language Teaching Today*. United States of America: Cambridge University Press.
- Rivers, Wilga M. 1981. *Teaching Foreign-Language Skills. Second Edition*. Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press.
- Roell, Christine. 2010. "Intercultural Training with Films." *English Teaching Forum* 2: 2-15.

- Saeedi, Zari, and Aso Biri. 2016. "The Application of Technology in Teaching Grammar to EFL Learners: The Role of Animated Sitcoms." *Teaching English with Technology* 16 (2): 18-39.
- Samovar, Larry A., Richard E. Porter, and Nemi C. Jain. 1981. *Understanding Intercultural Communication*. California: Wadsworth Publication Co.
- Scarino, Angela. 2010. "Assessing Intercultural Capability in Learning Languages: A Renewed Understanding of Language, Culture, Learning, and the Nature of Assessment." *The Modern Language Journal* 94 (2): 324-329.
- Sherman, Jane. 2003. *Using Authentic Video in the Language Classroom*. United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.
- Song, Young Imm Kang. 2013. "Foreign Film as a Gateway to Cultural Studies." International Journal of Social Science Studies 1 (1): 123-132.
- Stern, Hans Heinrich. 1997. Fundamental Concepts of Language Teaching.

 Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.
- Tatham, Chuck. 2009. "The Rehearsal Dinner." How I Met Your Mother, season 9, episode 12. Directed by Pamela Fryman, aired December 2. Los Angeles, CA: CBS, Television.
- The Glossary of Education Reform. 2013. "Summative Assessment." Last modified August 29, 2013. https://www.edglossary.org/summative-assessment/
- Tomalin, Barry, and Susan Stempleski. 1993. *Cultural Awareness*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Turkan, Sultan, and Servet Çelik. 2007. "Integrating Culture into EFL Texts and Classrooms: Suggested Lesson Plans." Novitas-ROYAL: Research on Youth and Language 1 (1): 18-33.
- USA Network. n.d. "Gloria Delgado-Pritchett." Accessed May 14, 2019. https://www.usanetwork.com/modernfamily/cast/gloria-delgado-pritchett

- Velasco, Daniel. 2017. "Incorporating Intercultural Communication Activities in English Language Classes." *IAFOR Journal of Language Learning* 3 (2): 161-172.
- Waedaoh, Abdulloh, and Kemtong Sinwongsuwat. 2018. "Enhancing English Language Learners' Conversation Abilities via CA-informed Sitcom Lessons." *English Language Teaching* 11 (12): 121-130.
- Wolf, Eleanor Kashmar, and David Gasbarro Tasker. 2018. ""This American English Class": A New Model of Cultural Instruction." *English Teaching Forum*: 2-12.
- Yeganeh, Maryam Tafajori, and Hossein Raeesi. 2015. "Developing Cultural Awareness in EFL Classrooms at Secondary School Level in an Iranian Educational Context." *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences* 192: 534-542.
- Yue, Jianying. 2019. "Use of Foreign Films in Cultivating Intercultural Communicative Competence in ELT A Case Study." *Theory and Practice in Language Studies* 9 (2): 198-203.

6. Appendixes

6.1. Appendix A. Worksheet with Episodes' Context

SITCOMS & STEREOTYPES

MODERN FAMILY:

LATIN AMERICAN

In this episode Cameron and Mitchell (North Americans) receive an exciting phone call. A mother (Latin American) from Calexico chose them to adopt her baby. Since she is giving birth at that moment, they go to the hospital with Gloria (Latin American). She is there to help them translate because the whole family speaks Spanish...

What will happen now?

NEW GIRL:

HINDU

Cece (Hindu) stays at her best friend's apartment. She has to interact with Schmidt (North American) and Winston (African American), two of her flatmates. During a conversation with them in the living room, Schmidt shows his "knowledge" about her cultural group... How do you think it will go?

BROOKLYN NINE-NINE:

AFRICAN AMERICAN

Terry (African American) has two children. One of them loses her favourite blanket in the street. She cannot sleep without it so he decides to search for it. After finding the blanket, he is stopped by a police officer... What will happen to him?

ARRESTED DEVELOPMENT:

BRITISH

Michael (North American) is investigating his father's crimes. In order to find some evidence, he goes to the British section of Orange County. How do you think it will go for him?

6.2. Appendix B. Flashcards for Roleplay

ROLEPLAY IN PAIRS:

You are both seven years old. One of you is a boy and the other is a girl. You are fighting because you cannot decide with which toys you want to play.

ROLEPLAY IN PAIRS:

You are teenagers. You are a boy and a girl. One of you comes out the closet to the other. The other is not surprised.

ROLEPLAY GROUP OF FOUR:

You are a group of teenagers. You are all boys. One of you is homosexual.

You are changing clothes in the locker room.

ROLEPLAY GROUP OF FOUR:

You are all teenagers. Two of you are girls and two of you are men. You are in PE class playing football.

ROLEPLAY GROUP OF THREE:

You are all middle-aged. Two of you are married (husband and wife). You are having problems and you decide to go to couples' therapy. The third component is the therapist (woman).

ROLEPLAY GROUP OF THREE:

You are in your twenties. You are three girls. One of you is a lesbian. You are looking for wedding dresses because one of you is finally getting married to her boyfriend.

6.3. Appendix C. Worksheet Instructions Writing

DEFYING STEREOTYPES

OPINION ESSAY

Choose one of the following stereotypes to write about:

- 1. Boys do not play with dolls or like the colour pink.
- 2. Gay men are always more feminine and lesbians more masculine.
- 3. A wife's first priority should be her husband.
- 4. Girls are not good at sports.
- 5. Everyone is born heterosexual.

You have to write an essay discussing the statement you have chosen (130-150 words). You have to divide the essay into two paragraphs.

In the first paragraph you have to explain the statement that you chose and argue whether you agree or not.

In the second paragraph you have to explain various reasons as to why this stereotype could interfere in communication. Do not forget to give a conclusion!

6.4. Appendix D. Rubric of the Final Task

		Beginning	Developing	Accomplished	Exemplary
SCRIPT	ENGLISH LANGUAGE (10%)	There are several major grammatical mistakes. The structure of the sentences is	There are some major grammatical mistakes. The structure of the	Correct use of grammar and well-structured sentences with some	Correct use of grammar and well-structured sentences with minor
(15%)		Spanish-like and makes understanding difficult. The vocabulary used is unsuitable. (0)	sentences is sometimes Spanish-like. The vocabulary used is unsuitable (0.34)	major mistakes. Most of the vocabulary used is suitable. (0.68)	mistakes. The vocabulary used is suitable. (1)
	WORK IN THE CLASSROOM (5%) *	The student did not work with the rest of the group during the lessons.	The student did little work with the rest of the group during the lessons.	The student worked and collaborated with the group most of the time. He/She helped prepare the script during the lessons.	The student worked and collaborated with the rest of the group all the time. He/She helped prepare the script during the lessons.
VIDEO (35%)	TIMING (5%)	The video lasts less than two minutes or more than eight minutes.	The video lasts between two and three minutes, or between seven and eight minutes.	The video lasts between three and four minutes, or between six and seven minutes.	The video lasts between four and six minutes.
	ENGLISH LANGUAGE (5%) *	There are several major grammatical mistakes. The structure of the sentences is Spanish-like and makes understanding difficult. The vocabulary used is unsuitable. (0)	There are some major grammatical mistakes. The structure of the sentences is sometimes Spanish-like. The vocabulary used is unsuitable (0.17)	Correct use of grammar and well-structured sentences with some major mistakes. Most of the vocabulary used is suitable. (0.34)	Correct use of grammar and well-structured sentences with minor mistakes. The vocabulary used is suitable. (0.5)

	PRONUNCIATION AND FLUENCY (10%) *	Considerable mistakes in pronunciation impeding understanding. Poor vocalisation and rhythm.	Some considerable mistakes in pronunciation. Poor vocalisation and rhythm at times.	Good pronunciation with some minor mistakes. Good vocalisation and rhythm	Excellent pronunciation, vocalisation and rhythm.
	FINAL VIDEO AND EDITION (10%)	The edition of the video is inadequate: the sound and the image are not clear, there is no background music, there are no transitions or credits.	The edition of the video is mediocre: the sound or image are not clear, there is no background music, there are some transitions or credits.	The edition of the video is good: the sound and image are clear, there is some background music, there are some transitions or credits.	The edition of the video is excellent: the sound and image are clear, there is background music, there are many transitions and credits.
ICC (50%)	TASK ADEQUACY (10%)	The group did not follow the guidelines. They did not create an intercultural situation.			The group has followed the guidelines correctly. They created a successful or unsuccessful intercultural situation.
	STEREOTYPES (25%)	The stereotypes portrayed were inaccurate and irrelevant. Little to none stereotypes were depicted.	Some of the stereotypes portrayed were accurate and relevant. Few stereotypes were depicted.	Most of the stereotypes portrayed were accurate and relevant to the dialogue. Various stereotypes were depicted.	The stereotypes portrayed were accurate and relevant to the dialogue. A great number of stereotypes were depicted.
	JOKES (15%)	No jokes were introduced in the dialogue. The jokes did not have a cultural value.	Only one or two jokes were introduced in the dialogue. The jokes did not have a cultural value.	Various jokes were introduced in the dialogue. The jokes had a significant cultural value.	A great number of jokes were introduced in the dialogue. The jokes had a significant cultural value.

6.5. Appendix E. Rubric for Students to Evaluate Classmates

	YES	NO		
Did the group create an intercultural communicative situation?				
Did the group introduce stereotypes related to race and ethnicity?				
Write down some of the stereotypes				
Did the group introduce stereotypes related to sexuality and gender?				
Write down some of the stereotypes				
Did the group introduce cultural jokes in the dialogue?				